
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Tuesday, 
21 September 2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed 
to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting. (Pages 3 - 10)

3. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public. 

5. Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 
2020/21 

(Pages 11 - 20)

6. Audit & Counter Fraud Update (Pages 21 - 48)

7. National Fraud Initiative Update (Pages 49 - 56)

8. External Audit 2019/20 & Draft Accounts 2020/21 Verbal update



9. General Fund Budget Monitoring Q1 (Pages 57 - 80)

10.Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Q1 (Pages 81 - 96)

11.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

12.Exclusion of the public 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in private

None

Members

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair)
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Derek Ashenden
Dakota Dibben
Samir Jassal
Nirmal Khabra
Jordan Meade
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Finance & Audit Committee
 

Tuesday, 20 July 2021                                            7:30pm 

Present: 

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair) 
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)  

Cllrs: Derek Ashenden 
Helen Ashenden
John Caller
Dakota Dibben 
Brian Francis
Emma Morley 

Sarah Parfitt 
Darren Everden
Lisa Nyon

Director (Corporate Services)
Assistant Director (Transformation & IT)
Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Andrew Barnett 
Alex Jarvis   
Helen Thaqi

Principal Accountant (General Fund) 
Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer)
Internal Audit Team Leader

Chris Wakeford Committee Services Manager  

103. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Nirmal Khabra, Cllr Jordan Meade and Cllr 
Elizabeth Mulheran; Cllr Brian Francis, Cllr Helen Ashenden and Cllr John Caller attended 
as their respective substitutes.

An apology for absence was also received from Cllr Samir Jassal.

104. Minutes 

Cllr Gow corrected a typo at Minute 99 that should have read:

‘Cllr Gow requested assurances that universal credit risk was not a significant risk 
anymore…’

The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday, 9 March 2021 were signed by the Chair.

105. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Sarah Gow declared an Other Significant Interest as appointed Directors of Rosherville 
Limited, the Council’s Local Authority Trading Company. 

106. Update on 2019/20 external audit 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 20.07.2021

2

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) provided the Committee with an update on the 
2019/20 external audit and highlighted the following:

 The audit had not yet been concluded due to issues with the St. George’s Shopping 
Centre transaction and increased audit work nationally that auditors are required to 
carry out with regard to asset valuations and HRA dwellings. The Finance team are 
working with Grant Thornton to bring matters to a close.

 The Council is seeking to obtain a second opinion on the accounting treatment for 
the St. George’s Centre as we wish to ensure that the correct accounting treatment 
has been applied. Once the Council has received this external advice, Members will 
be updated.

107. General Fund Provisional Outturn Report 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) presented the Committee with:

 The 2020/21 provisional General Fund Outturn Report, including movements in the 
General Fund working balances and earmarked reserves; and

 The 2020/21 provisional General Fund Capital Outturn

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) advised that the report was labelled as provisional 
as it was still subject to the external audit process and the receipt of the final audit opinion, 
which will come to the Finance & Audit Committee in due course.

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) directed Members to page 10 of the report which 
held an Executive Summary of the information in the report pertaining to the:  

 General Fund – Revenue 
 General Fund – Capital 

Members were also updated on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), or
Financial Statements.

Following a question from a Member; the Principal Accountant (General Fund) explained 
that as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and the country entering lockdown during 2020, 
magistrates’ courts were only able to deal with urgent work, and local taxation liability order 
hearings were suspended. Although initially it was hoped that this situation would only last a 
few months, ultimately no Council Tax liability order hearings were able to take place
throughout 2020/21.

The Chair thanked the Principal Accountant (General Fund) and the Committee noted the 
report.

108. Housing Revenue Provisional Outturn Report 

The Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) presented the Committee with:

 The 2020/21 provisional Housing Revenue Account Outturn and movements in the 
Housing Revenue Account working balances and earmarked reserves

 The 2020/21 provisional Housing Revenue Account Capital Outturn

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 20.07.2021

3

The Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) advised that the report was labelled as 
provisional as it was still subject to the external audit process and the receipt of the final 
audit opinion which will come to the Finance & Audit Committee in due course. 

The Principal Accountant  (Housing & Exchequer) directed Members to page 34 of the report 
which held an Executive Summary of the information in the report pertaining to the:  

 HRA (Revenue) 
 Housing Capital 

Members were updated on other key areas of financial performance that may impact the 
HRA Business Plan. 

Following Members comments and questions, the Principal Accountant (Housing & 
Exchequer) highlighted the following:

 Service Charges: £436k adverse variance – there is an adverse variance of £370k 
due to the original budgeted income being overstated in respect of tenant service 
charges (£370k). In addition to this, leaseholder service charges had an adverse 
variance of £66k at year end which included reimbursements of £31k which were not 
budgeted in 2020/21. A review of the budget setting process for 2021/22 has been 
completed to ensure that the overstatement of income is not repeated.
Service Charges differ depending on the type of accommodation but they relate to 
caretakers, communal areas (electricity) etc.

 Garage Income: £49k adverse variance – the adverse variance is due to a 
decrease in rental income from garages, this reduction in income was offset by the 
increase in commercial rent. The Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) 
agreed to provide further information to the Committee outside of the meeting on the 
decrease in rental income from garages.

 Disabled Adaptations: £116k favourable variance – Due to the vulnerability of the 
client base, access issues and a significant reduction in referrals from Occupational 
Health due to Covid-19, works have not been carried out giving rise to a favourable
variance of £116k. These works are expected to be completed as soon as the easing 
of restrictions allow.

 There is a Typo at paragraph 4.5.1 that should read ‘Britain’s Bravest Manufacturing 
Company’

The Chair thanked the Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) and the Committee 
noted the report.

109. Annual Treasury Management Review 2020/21 

The Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) presented the Committee with a report that 
updated them on treasury management activity during 2020-21 in accordance with the 
requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA’s) 
revised code on Treasury Management.

The Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) outlined key points from the report 
regarding: 

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 20.07.2021

4

 The Councils’ Capital Expenditure and Financing 
 The Council’s Overall Borrowing Need 
 The Treasury Position as at 31 March 2021
 The Investment Strategy and Control of Interest Rate Risk for 2020/21 
 The Borrowing Strategy and Control of Interest Rate Risk Rates in 2020-21 
 The Borrowing Outturn for 2020-21 
 The Investment Outturn for 2020/21
 UK Sovereignty 

It was resolved that: 

 The Finance and Audit Committee note the contents of the report.
 Delegated authority be given to the Director (Corporate Services), in consultation 

with the Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee, to amend the figures in this 
report, as necessary following successful completion of the final accounts process.

110. Annual Governance Statement 2020/21 

Member’s approval was sought for the Council’s Annual Governance Statement for the 
2020-21 financial year. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) outlined the key points from the report regarding 
the annual review of the Council’s governance framework 2020-21 and drew Members 
attention to the following: 

 The Annual Governance Statement for 2020-21 was prepared against the findings of 
the annual review of governance arrangements. Appendix Three to the report 
provides Members with a copy of the Full Governance Review and its outcomes; the 
review was conducted by the Corporate Performance Manager, in full consultation 
with the council’s AGS Assurance Group.

 A copy of the statement, including a relevant suite of actions for consideration, is 
attached at Appendix Four to the report.

 Whilst no significant control issues were identified, the review presented some 
opportunities to further develop and strengthen the Council’s governance framework 
and system of internal control in 2020-21. The plan for activity in the coming year 
was presented in section 14 of the AGS. 

 The Annual Governance Statement is to be signed by the Chair of the Finance & 
Audit Committee upon approval by Members.

It was resolved that: 

 Members noted the findings of the review of the council’s governance arrangements 
for 2020-21.

 Members approved and supported the Annual Governance Statement for the 2020-
21 financial year.

111. Annual Audit & Counter Fraud Report 2020/21 

The Committee was informed of the work completed during 2020-21 and presented with the 
opinion of the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, as Chief Audit Executive, on 
the Council’s framework of governance, risk management and internal control . 

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 20.07.2021

5

The Internal Audit Team Leader advised that the opinion was listed in full in section 2 of the 
report, this concluding that:

‘It is therefore my opinion that Gravesham Borough Council’s framework of governance, risk
management and system of internal control is adequate and effective, and contributes to the
proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources in achieving the council’s 
objectives.’

The Internal Audit Team Leader further guided Members through the report and highlighted 
key points from the following areas: 

 Independence 
 Resources 
 The Results of Planned Audit & Counter Fraud Work 
 Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme
 Follow up of agreed recommendations
 Recommendations outstanding more than six months after scheduled 

implementation date 
 Update on 2021-22 Planned Audit & Counter Fraud Work

Following questions from the Committee, the Director (Corporate Services) and the Internal 
Audit Team Leader highlighted the following:

 Pg 145 Counter Fraud Assurance Work - Lone workers Amber rating: this 
recommendation is being taken seriously at Management Team and Daniel Killian, 
Director (Housing) is looking at this area with his team to make sure processes are 
put in place. The Director (Corporate Services) will highlight this matter to 
Management Team as an area of concern for the Committee.

 The Internal Audit Team Leader explained that audit testing varies depending on the 
timing of the audit but is typically based on the previous 12 months.

It was resolved that: 

 The Finance & Audit Committee endorsed the work undertaken by the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Shared Service for Gravesham during 2020-21 in providing an 
effective service to the Council 

 The Finance & Audit Committee considered and endorsed the opinion on the 
Council’s internal control environment provided by the Head of Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service

112. Notification of Red Audit Opinions 

The Internal Audit Team Leader explained that in accordance with the terms of reference of 
this committee, Internal Audit is required to report to the committee on reviews given an 
opinion of Red where the Chief Audit Executive (in consultation with the Section 151 Officer 
and/or Monitoring Officer as applicable and following discussion with the Chair of the 
Finance & Audit Committee) considers the weaknesses identified to exceed a financial 
threshold of £25,000, or where they represent a significant risk to the achievement of the 
council’s corporate objectives.

Page 7



Finance and Audit Committee 20.07.2021

6

The Internal Audit Team Leader notified Members of audit opinions of Red given following 
Internal Audit reviews of Private Housing Enforcement and IT Asset Management, as 
detailed in sections two and three of the report.

Following a question from a Member, the Internal Audit Team Leader explained that, with 
regard to IT Asset Management, four of the five recommendations are due to be completed 
by the end of August 2021 with the fifth being completed by the end of August 2022.
Three of the Private Housing Enforcement recommendations are due to be completed by 31 
March 2022, one by 31 August 2022 and one by 31 December 2022; the other was 
implemented before the audit was finalised.

The Chair thanked the Internal Audit Team Leader and the Committee noted the report.

113. National Fraud Initiative Update 

The Internal Audit Team Leader provided Members with an update on the work completed in 
relation to the data matches received as part of the National Fraud Initiative Exercises 2019-
20 and 2020-21.

The Internal Audit Team Leader highlighted the following:

 Progress with the 2019-20 Exercise: only 20 out of 934 matches remain open, with 
ongoing enquiries being undertaken. Overall this work has led to savings totalling 
approximately £100,000.

 Progress with the 2020-21 Exercise: 3,736 matches were received in January 2021. 
The Audit & Counter Fraud Team is seeking assistance from council departments to 
speed up the elimination of matches where no further action is required.

 The proposal within the report for six monthly progress updates had been reviewed 
and discussed with the Chair prior to the meeting. It was instead proposed that the 
Committee will receive an update in Sept 2021 and progress will then be presented 
on an annual basis thereafter. This will ensure updates are more complete and 
meaningful.

The Chair thanked the Internal Audit Team Leader. 

It was resolved that: 

 Members agreed to receive a further update at the September 2021 meeting of the 
F&A Committee and thereafter receive annual progress updates instead of six 
monthly.

114. Annual Report of the Audit Committee Chair 2020/21 

The Committee received the Annual Report of the Audit Committee Chair 2020/21 which 
provides information on the work of the Finance and Audit Committee during the year 
2020/21.

The Chair explained that the report acknowledges the work good work of officers and 
Councillors and thanked all those involved.

Page 8



Finance and Audit Committee 20.07.2021

7

The Director (Corporate Services) explained the importance of celebrating the Committee 
and demonstrating the strength of the Council’s governance arrangements. This report will 
presented to Full Council.

It was resolved that: 

 The Finance & Audit Committee endorsed the Annual Report presented at Appendix 
2.

 The Finance & Audit Committee agreed that the Annual Report be presented to the 
next Full Council meeting.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:30pm. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 21 September 2021

Reporting officer: Service Manager, Town Centre & Cultural Services

Subject: Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual 
Review Letter 2020 - 21

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Committee with a copy of the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman’s 
Annual Review Letter for Gravesham.

Recommendations:
This report is for information and to support transparency and learning from complaints.

1. Background

1.1 The Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman (LG&SCO) publish an annual review 
letter for each authority, summarising the complaints and enquiries they have dealt with 
over the past year, along with the action taken i.e. whether the complaint was 
investigated. Gravesham Borough Council’s annual letter is attached as Appendix II.

2. Year End Findings for Gravesham Borough Council

2.1 For the year ending 31 March 2021, the LG&SCO received a total of 11 complaints or 
enquiries about Gravesham Borough Council services (Appendix II). The majority 
related to Housing (7) with others relating to Planning, Environmental, Highway (parking) 
or Adult Social Care (Disabled facilities grant).

2.2 Of the 11 contacts, decisions were made for 8 of them as set out below. The remaining 
3 cases were not closed during the 2020-21 financial year and will therefore be reported 
in the next annual review letter.

 Advice was given for 3 contacts

 4 were referred to the Council as premature, i.e. the complaint process had not 
been concluded. 

 1 complaint was investigated but not upheld as there was no finding of mal-
administration.

3. Corporate Complaint Procedure changes

3.1 It is also worth Members noting that the Corporate Complaint Procedure has recently 
been reviewed and changes introduced to recognise good practice and guidance; in 
particular the Housing Ombudsman recommendation that complaint procedures should 
not have more than 2 stages.

3.2 The current procedure has evolved over a number of years to ensure that the process 
remains fair, robust and appropriate. The last significant change was made in 
September 2011 when an additional, third stage, was added whereby the Chief 

Page 11 Agenda Item 5



Executive would undertake a final review of complaints; potentially before they were 
escalated to the Ombudsman service. 

3.3 Whilst the procedure has operated relatively well, it is no longer in step with guidance 
from the Housing Ombudsman or other Kent Authorities. Following a recent review, 
changes were identified to reflect best practice, ensure the procedure remains fit for 
purpose, and more importantly, continues as an effective mechanism for putting things 
right and learning from complaints.

4. Recommendations

4.1 This report is for information only to support transparency and learning from complaints.

5. Background papers

5.1 Further information is available on the LG&SCO website at www.lgo.org.uk

Page 12

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             APPENDIX 1

Legal The Local Government Act 1974 (the '1974 Act') established the, then, Local 
Government Ombudsman for England and for Wales and defines the main statutory 
functions as follows:

 to investigate complaints against councils and some other authorities
 to investigate complaints about adult social care providers from people who 

arrange or fund their adult social care (Health Act 2009)
 to provide advice and guidance on good administrative practice

The main activity under Part III of the 1974 Act is the investigation of complaints, 
which the Act states is limited to complaints from members of the public alleging 
they have suffered injustice as a result of maladministration and/or service failure. 

Under Part IIIA the Ombudsman investigates complaints from people who allege 
they have suffered injustice as a result of action by adult social care providers. The 
Ombudsmen's jurisdiction under Part III covers all local authorities (excluding town 
and parish councils); police and crime bodies; school admission appeal panels and 
a range of other bodies providing local services. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

The LG&SCO annual report summarises the complaints it has investigated in 
relation to Gravesham Borough Council in the previous financial year. Good 
complaint handling ensures instances of service failures or injustice are limited and 
that improvements to services can be identified at the earliest opportunity.

Risk 
Assessment

This report is for information only.

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

Screening for Equality Impacts

Question Answer Explanation

a. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended 
through this paper 
have potential to 
cause adverse impact 
or discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community?

No This report is not 
proposing decisions or 
changes to services. It 
provides information about 
the LG&SCO complaint 
handling. 

b. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended 
through this paper 
make a positive 
contribution to 
promoting equality?

No As above, the report is 
not proposing decisions 
or changes to service.

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above?

N/A N/A

Page 13



In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming they have given 
due regard to equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted in the 
table above

Corporate 
Business 
Plan

Corporate Plan Objective 4 – Sound & self-sufficient council

Crime and 
Disorder

Good complaint handling can help to identify issues that may link, for example, anti-
social behaviour. Effective management of complaints can therefore lead to a 
reduction in such instances or appropriate action being taken to address them.

Climate 
Change

N/A This report is for information only and relates to the handling of complaints.

Page 14



 

 

 

 

21 July 2021 
 
By email 
 
Mr Bobby 
Chief Executive 
Gravesham Borough Council 
 
Dear Mr Bobby 
 
Annual Review letter 2021 
 
I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the decisions made by the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman about your authority for the year ending                      

31 March 2021. At the end of a challenging year, we maintain that good public administration is 

more important than ever and I hope this feedback provides you with both the opportunity to reflect 

on your Council’s performance and plan for the future.  

You will be aware that, at the end of March 2020 we took the unprecedented step of temporarily 

stopping our casework, in the wider public interest, to allow authorities to concentrate efforts on 

vital frontline services during the first wave of the Covid-19 outbreak. We restarted casework in 

late June 2020, after a three month pause.  

We listened to your feedback and decided it was unnecessary to pause our casework again during 

further waves of the pandemic. Instead, we have encouraged authorities to talk to us on an 

individual basis about difficulties responding to any stage of an investigation, including 

implementing our recommendations. We continue this approach and urge you to maintain clear 

communication with us. 

Complaint statistics 

This year, we continue to focus on the outcomes of complaints and what can be learned from 

them. We want to provide you with the most insightful information we can and have focused 

statistics on three key areas: 

Complaints upheld - We uphold complaints when we find some form of fault in an authority’s 

actions, including where the authority accepted fault before we investigated.  

Compliance with recommendations - We recommend ways for authorities to put things right 

when faults have caused injustice and monitor their compliance with our recommendations. 

Failure to comply is rare and a compliance rate below 100% is a cause for concern.  

Page 15



Satisfactory remedy provided by the authority - In these cases, the authority upheld the 

complaint and we agreed with how it offered to put things right. We encourage the early resolution 

of complaints and credit authorities that accept fault and find appropriate ways to put things right.  

Finally, we compare the three key annual statistics for your authority with similar types of 

authorities to work out an average level of performance. We do this for County Councils, District 

Councils, Metropolitan Boroughs, Unitary Councils, and London Boroughs. 

Your annual data will be uploaded to our interactive map, Your council’s performance, along with a 

copy of this letter on 28 July 2021. This useful tool places all our data and information about 

councils in one place. You can find the decisions we have made about your Council, public reports 

we have issued, and the service improvements your Council has agreed to make as a result of our 

investigations, as well as previous annual review letters.  

I would encourage you to share the resource with colleagues and elected members; the 

information can provide valuable insights into service areas, early warning signs of problems and 

is a key source of information for governance, audit, risk and scrutiny functions. 

As you would expect, data has been impacted by the pause to casework in the first quarter of the 

year. This should be considered when making comparisons with previous year’s data. 

Supporting complaint and service improvement  

I am increasingly concerned about the evidence I see of the erosion of effective complaint 

functions in local authorities. While no doubt the result of considerable and prolonged budget and 

demand pressures, the Covid-19 pandemic appears to have amplified the problems and my 

concerns. With much greater frequency, we find poor local complaint handling practices when 

investigating substantive service issues and see evidence of reductions in the overall capacity, 

status and visibility of local redress systems.  

With this context in mind, we are developing a new programme of work that will utilise complaints 

to drive improvements in both local complaint systems and services. We want to use the rich 

evidence of our casework to better identify authorities that need support to improve their complaint 

handling and target specific support to them. We are at the start of this ambitious work and there 

will be opportunities for local authorities to shape it over the coming months and years.  

An already established tool we have for supporting improvements in local complaint handling is 

our successful training programme. During the year, we successfully adapted our  

face-to-face courses for online delivery. We provided 79 online workshops during the year, 

reaching more than 1,100 people. To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
Michael King 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England

Page 16

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
http://www.lgo.org.uk/training


Gravesham Borough Council 

For the period ending: 31/03/21  

                                                             

 

 

 

 

 

NOTE: To allow authorities to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic, we did not accept new complaints and stopped 

investigating existing cases between March and June 2020. This reduced the number of complaints we received 

and decided in the 20-21 year. Please consider this when comparing data from previous years. 

Complaints upheld 

  

0% of complaints we 
investigated were upheld. 

This compares to an average of 
53% in similar authorities. 

 
 

0                          
upheld decisions 

 
Statistics are based on a total of 1 
detailed investigation for the period 
between 1 April 2020 to 31 March 

2021 

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations 

 

No recommendations were due for compliance in this period 

 

 

Satisfactory remedy provided by the authority 

 

The Ombudsman did not uphold any detailed investigations during this period 

 

 

0% 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Received

Reference Authority Category Received

20000118 Gravesham Borough Council Adult Care Services 11 May 2020

20005311 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 25 Sep 2020

20005600 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 30 Sep 2020

20006036 Gravesham Borough Council Planning & Development 07 Oct 2020

20007499 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 16 Nov 2020

20007779 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 11 Nov 2020

20011408 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 29 Jan 2021

20014201 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 25 Mar 2021

20001986 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 04 Mar 2021

20002980 Gravesham Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 15 Sep 2020

20012153 Gravesham Borough Council Highways & Transport 12 Feb 2021

Decided

Reference Authority Category Decided Decision Decison ReasonRemedy Service 

improve20000118 Gravesham Borough Council Adult Care Services 24 Aug 2020 Not Upheld no mal     

20005311 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 25 Sep 2020 Referred back for local resolutionPremature Decision - advice given    

20005600 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 30 Sep 2020 Referred back for local resolutionPremature Decision - advice given    

20006036 Gravesham Borough Council Planning & Development 07 Oct 2020 Referred back for local resolutionPremature Decision - advice given    

20007499 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 16 Nov 2020 Referred back for local resolutionPremature Decision - advice given    

20007779 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 11 Nov 2020 Advice givenSignpost - go to complaint handling    

20011408 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 29 Jan 2021 Advice givenSignpost - go to complaint handling    

20014201 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 25 Mar 2021 Advice givenSignpost - go to complaint handling    

Compliance

Reference Authority Category Decided Remedy Remedy Target DateRemedy Achieved DateSatisfaction with Compliance

No compliance data recorded during the period

P
age 19



Satisfaction with Compliance

P
age 20



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 21 September 2021

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Update Report

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 July 2021

Recommendations:
1. Members approve the amendments to the agreed workplan as detailed in section 7 of 

appendix 2.
2. Members endorse the revised implementation dates for overdue recommendations as 

detailed in section eight of appendix 2.

1. Introduction

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief 
audit executive must report periodically to senior management and the board on 
the internal audit activity’s purpose, authority, responsibility, and performance 
relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk exposures and 
control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed 
or requested by senior management and the board.

2. Audit & Counter Fraud Update Report 

2.1 The report at Appendix 2 is the first of three updates to be produced during 2021-
22; detailing the work undertaken by the Audit & Counter Fraud Service between 
01 April and 31 July and the progress made against the annual workplan. 

2.2 Section seven of the update report contains details of proposed amendments to 
the agreed plan, which are submitted for Member’s approval. 

2.3 Section eight of the update report includes details of recommendations that are 
more than six months overdue. Services have provided updates in relation to 
these recommendations and the reasons for delayed implementation. Revised 
implementation dates have been provided for a number of these 
recommendations and Member’s approval is sought to change the implementation 
dates accordingly.

Page 21 Agenda Item 6



2

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 22



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
    

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible 
for establishing the internal audit service; Gravesham Borough Council has 
delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver 
internal audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government 
Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards..

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a 
key source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its 
internal control arrangements

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Plan but is particularly relevant to Objective 
#3 Progress.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications to this report.

Page 23

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of recommendations made by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team that are implemented by Management is one of the council’s overall 
Performance Indicators and is therefore reported to the public via the council’s 
Annual Report published on the council’s website. 
The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigation; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 24



Page 1 of 23

Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Update 

Gravesham Borough Council
For the period:

1 April – 31 July 2021

Page 25



Page 2 of 23

1. Introduction
1.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council was 

established on 1 March 2016. The team provides internal audit assurance and consultancy, proactive 
counter fraud and reactive investigation services, and the Single Point of Contact between both 
authorities and the Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of 
Benefits Fraud

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief audit executive must 
report periodically to senior management and the board on the internal audit activity’s purpose, 
authority, responsibility and performance relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk 
exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed or 
requested by senior management and the board.

2. Executive Summary
2.1 The first four months of 2021-22 have been productive with the following audit reviews finalised;

*items in italics had full details of the review included in the 2020-21 annual report.

 IT Asset Management – Opinion: Red (2020-21 review finalised in 2021-22)
 Shared Services - Amber (2020-21 review finalised in 2021-22)
 Staff Leave Booking – Counter Fraud Review – Opinion: Amber (2020-21 review finalised in 2021-22)
 Capital Accounting – Opinion: Green (2020-21 review finalised in 2021-22)
 Private Housing Enforcement – Opinion: Red (2020-21 review finalised in 2021-22)
 Fly Tipping – Consultancy review, no opinion given (2020-21 review finalised in 2021-22)
 Member Standards - Opinion: Amber (2020-21 review finalised in 2021-22)
 Cyber Security – Opinion: Amber (2020-21 review finalised in 2021-22)
 Corporate Debt Recovery – Opinion: Amber (2020-21 review finalised in 2021-22)
 Traded Services – Rosherville Ltd – Opinion: Amber (2020-21 review finalised in 2021-22)

In addition, four reviews have had fieldwork completed and are now going through the quality control 
process, two further reviews are currently underway and commencement of a number of others is being 
arranged with clients. As a consequence of this work, plan delivery as at 31 July was 17% complete, with 
a further 8% underway. Full details of the individual reviews can be found in section 5 of this report.

2.2 Follow up of agreed recommendations has continued and performance as of 31 July stood at 50%, with 
11 of 22 recommendations due in the period having been implemented. 11 remain outstanding and are 
being monitored in line with the agreed follow up process. Full details of the progress made in relation 
to recommendation follow up can be found at section 8.

2.3 In respect of recommendations arising from audits with Red opinions that have been reported to the 
Committee, two recommendations relating to the review of IT Asset Management were due for 
implementation by 31 July and both have been implemented. No recommendations were due before 31 
July in respect of the review of Private Housing Enforcement.

2.4 Investigations concluded during the period have identified cashable savings of £136,980 in the form of 
additional council tax liabilities, both historic and future and new business rate liabilities.

2.5 There has been some impact on planned resources due to sickness, the retirement of one officer and a 
vacancy for an Intelligence Analyst following the previous post holder taking a position within the team 
as a Counter Fraud Officer. We are expecting some further impact following the resignation of an 
Internal Audit Team Leader and are currently projecting a loss of approximately 80 days from the 
projected 603 available at the start of the year.

Page 26



Page 3 of 23

3. Independence
3.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter was approved by the Finance & Audit Committee in February 2020 

and sets out the purpose, authority and responsibility of the team. The Charter sets out the 
arrangements to ensure the team’s independence and objectivity through direct reporting lines to 
senior management and Members, and through safeguards to ensure officers remain free from 
operational responsibility and do not engage in any other activity that may impair their judgement. The 
work of the team during the period covered by this report has been free from any inappropriate 
restriction or influence from senior officers and/or Members.

3.2 Given its responsibilities for counter-fraud activities, the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service cannot 
provide independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities of either council. Instead, independent 
assurance over the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought from an external supplier of audit 
services on a periodic basis. The most recent of these reviews was undertaken by Tonbridge & Malling 
Borough Council in 2018-19.

4. Resources
4.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway Council and 

Gravesham Borough Council. The team currently has an establishment of 14 officers, consisting of; the 
Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud, two Internal Audit Team Leaders, six Internal Auditors 
(5.78FTE), one Counter Fraud Team Leader, two Counter Fraud Officers, and two Counter Fraud 
Intelligence Analysts (0.86FTE) (one post currently vacant).

4.2 The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two 
councils, approximately 64% for Medway, with the remaining 36% for Gravesham. The establishment at 
the time the Audit & Counter Fraud Plans for 2021-22 were prepared, was forecasted to provide a total 
of 1,815 days available for audit and counter fraud work (net of allowances for leave, training, 
management, administration etc.)  The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham was prepared with a 
resource budget of 654 days for audit & counter fraud work. 

4.3 Net staff days available for Gravesham for the period 1 April to 31 July 2021 amounted to 216 days and 
184 days (85%) were spent on chargeable audit and counter fraud work.  Of this chargeable time, 104 
days (56%) was spent on audit assurance and consultancy work, while 80 days (44%) was spent on 
counter fraud and investigations work. In addition, 14 days were spent on SPOC related duties. The 
current status and results of all work carried out are detailed at section 5 of this report.

4.4 Staff sickness, a period of vacancy created by a promotion within the team and the retirement of one 
officer has affected the level of resources available. We are expecting some further impact following the 
resignation of an internal audit team leader and are currently projecting a loss of approximately 80 days 
(38 audit days and 42 counter fraud days) from the projected resource available at the start of the year.

5. Results of planned Audit & Counter Fraud work
5.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2021-22 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance & Audit 

Committee in March 2021. The Plan is intended to provide a clear picture of how the council will use the 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, reflecting all work to be carried out by the team for Gravesham 
during the financial year including the council’s core finance and governance arrangements, operational 
assurance work, proactive counter fraud work, responsive investigations and consultancy services. 

5.2 The tables below provide details of the work from 2020-21 that has been finalised in 2021-22 (excluding 
those detailed in the annual report for 2020-21), the progress of work undertaken as part of the 2021-
22 annual plan and the results of investigative work completed during the period.  

Page 27



Page 4 of 23

2020-21 Internal Audit assurance work completed in 2021-22 (since the last Audit Committee meeting)

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

6 Cyber security 15 14.8 Final report 
issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to protect the council network.
The review found that the council is broadly compliant with the National Cyber 
Security Council’s 10 Steps to Cyber Security, with appropriate cyber security 
prevention and detection arrangements in place, though there is a need for 
adjustment to some arrangements as a result of changes brought about by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. There are appropriate policies and training in place, though 
enhancements are required to arrangements for access and monitoring staff 
completion.  Opinion: Amber.  
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Three high and four medium 
priority. 
Recommendations relate to adjustment to arrangements as a result of changes 
brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic and enhancements to arrangements 
for access and monitoring staff completion of training /policies. 

14 Corporate debt recovery 15 18.6 Final report 
issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to identify and recover corporate debts to 
maximise debt collection and prevent reputational damage.
The review found that the council has an approved Corporate Debt Strategy in 
place containing an agreed criteria for identifying corporate debts and a process 
map outlining the matching/recovery process undertaken through use of data 
matching software. While the data matching software identifies the debt owed by 
an individual, checks of individual systems are still required to ensure the 
prioritisation criteria outlined in the strategy is applied correctly. 
Once a corporate debt has been established, the process involves liaison with the 
customer to assess their situation, determine what support can be provided and 
ultimately agree a payment plan with the approval of the relevant department(s). 
Audit testing confirmed that this process is followed in practice, though corporate 
debt activity was temporarily halted at the height of the COVID-19 pandemic.  
Arrangements exist for payment plans to be monitored and for payments received 
to be allocated in accordance with the Corporate Debt Strategy. Although in 
practice there are clear arrangements for returning corporate debt cases to 
individual departments, these arrangements are not documented within the 
Corporate Debt Strategy or process map. 

P
age 28



Page 5 of 23

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

There is regular liaison with departmental recovery officers regarding the progress 
of corporate debt cases, however the review identified some inconsistency over 
the location and responsibility for updating records, which presents a risk that not 
all recovery officers will be aware of the most recent action taken in respect of 
corporate debt cases.  
There are appropriate arrangements in place for Management Team to receive 
regular reports on the level of outstanding debt managed by the council. Opinion: 
Amber.  
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One high, one medium and one low 
priority. 
Recommendations relate to a review of the debt data matching process and the 
tools involved, including an assessment on the number of potential corporate 
debt cases and the resource required to manage these cases; the process to be 
followed should corporate debt fail to engage with customers and/or payments 
are stopped being documented; and, reviewing the process for updating 
customer records on relevant systems following corporate debt action to ensure 
all officers have up to date information on the status of corporate debt cases.  

19 Traded services - 
Rosherville Ltd

15 22 Final report 
issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Gravesham Borough Council have governance and accounting 
arrangements in place to monitor delivery of Rosherville Limited and its 
subsidiaries.
The review confirmed that the formation of Rosherville and its subsidiary 
companies have all been approved via the correct governance processes; as have 
the governance arrangements, Board Membership, Article of Association (AOA), 
formation of a shareholder group, and business plans for each company. It was 
noted that there are no Non-Executive Directors as part of the LATCo Board. Roles 
and responsibility training was provided to council Members; however, a review of 
attendees found that not all Directors had received the training. 
There is a Shareholder’s Agreement in place setting out the rights of the council as 
sole shareholder; along with signed SLAs for support services provided by the 
council. An annual review of the SLA has been conducted in accordance with the 
terms in the agreement. 

P
age 29



Page 6 of 23

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Appropriate arrangements are in place for Rosherville Ltd and its subsidiaries to be 
invoiced on a quarterly basis for support services provided by the council and 
evidence was seen to confirm this is working in practice. 
Budgets for Rosherville have been appropriately approved and authority delegated 
to the Director (Corporate Services) to operationally manage release of funding. 
Arrangements are also in place for payments to be appropriately authorised and 
processed and a review of the payments made at time of audit found all to have 
been processed correctly. 
It was noted there is currently no framework to provide update reports to the 
shareholder, outside of the annual business plans received by Cabinet. Opinion: 
Amber.  
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One high and two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to consideration of the Rosherville Ltd board including 
the Non-Executive Directors, training for additional staff on roles and 
responsibilities, and performance reporting from Rosherville to the Shareholder 
Board.

2021-22 Internal Audit assurance work

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Core governance and financial systems assurance work
1 Governance framework 8 Fieldwork 

complete, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - An effective Governance Framework is in place.

2 Constitution 
maintenance

12 Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Effective arrangements are in place to maintain Gravesham Borough 
Council’s Constitution.

3 Risk management 
compliance

10 Fieldwork 
underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to manage operational risks.

P
age 30



Page 7 of 23

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

4 Performance 
management framework 
& reporting

15 Request to defer to 
2022-23

Normal procedures relating to the verification of performance data were paused 
during 2020-21 due to pressures created by the covid pandemic. As such, any 
review undertaken during 2021-22 would not provide an accurate basis for 
assurance. It is therefore felt that it would be more suitable to defer the review to 
2022-23.

5 Bank reconciliation 10 Not yet started
6 Project management - 

M365
15 Not yet started

7 Income collection 15 Not yet started
8 Housing benefit & CTR 

appeals
15 Terms of Reference 

being prepared
9 Council Tax discounts, 

disregards & exemptions
10 Terms of Reference 

being prepared
10 Housing rent 

administration and 
collection

15 Not yet started

11 VAT 10 Terms of Reference 
being prepared

12 Financial planning 10 Not yet started

Corporate risks assurance work
13 Planning applications 

(inc validations and 
decisions)

15 Not yet started

14 Business continuity 
planning

15 Not yet started

15 Garden waste collection 
service 

10 Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to manage the council’s garden waste 
collection service.

16 Temporary 
accommodation

15 Fieldwork 
underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - The provision of temporary accommodation (TA) outside of the area is 
appropriately managed.

P
age 31



Page 8 of 23

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

17 Leaseholder 
management

10 Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - There are arrangements are in place for the administration of 
leaseholder service charges.

18 Housing allocations 15 Not yet started
19 HRA building compliance 15 Terms of Reference 

being prepared
20 Council housing disabled 

adaptations
15 Not yet started

21 GDPR 15 Not yet started
22 Corporate complaints 15 Not yet started
23 Refuse collection 15 Not yet started
24 Accessibility Regulations 15 Terms of Reference 

being prepared
25 Finalisation of 2020-21 

planned work 
20 Not yet started

26 Responsive assurance 
work 

13 N/A Underway Please refer to the table below for information relating to responsive assurance 
activity.

Responsive assurance activity

Activity Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Election Result Calculations The team carried out detailed checks to ensure the accuracy of spreadsheets used to 
verify the ballots issued and calculate the results of the County & PCC elections as well 
as the Local Bi-Election held in May. 

Business Restart Grant Validation Independent validation to confirm that Business Restart Grant funding had been spent 
in accordance with the conditions set by the Department for Business, Energy & 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS)

Other consultancy services including advice & information

Activity Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

P
age 32



Page 9 of 23

Activity Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Town Twinning Association Accounts The team carried out an audit of the Gravesham Town Twinning Association’s accounts.

Counter Fraud activity

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

32 Counter fraud proactive 
work (inc external data 
matching such as NFI & 
KIN)

42 N/A Not yet started Work has continued to clear the matches received as part of the 2019-20 NFI 
Exercise and only four matches remain open for investigation. Results to date 
include additional council tax liabilities of £77,777 and additional liability of 
£33,440 in future years.
Work has also commenced on the 2020-21 NFI Exercise, although as of 31 July, 
there are no positive results to report.
The Revenues team have been making use of software procured via the KIN, 
which has led to additional Business rates of £7,588 following removal of small 
business rates, Additional Council tax liabilities of £2,917 (£4,099 liability for 
future years) and also traced 55 absconded debtors, bringing £115,480 back into 
recovery.

33 Fraud awareness 5 N/A Not yet started

Responsive investigation work: external investigations

Area
Number of 

referrals 
rejected

Number of 
investigations 

concluded
Summary of results Cashable savings Non-cashable 

savings Prevented losses

Business Rates 
(NNDR)

2 7 Six cases concluded with no evidence of 
fraud. One case concluded with the creation 
of a new NNDR liability.

£8,349 (New 
Liability)

N/A N/A

Business Support 
Grants

2 2 Two cases concluded with no evidence of 
fraud.

N/A N/A N/A

Council Tax 8 121 38 cases were concluded with no evidence 
of fraud. 74 cases concluded with the 
removal of the council tax 
discount/exemption or reduction, 14 of 

£84,965 (Historic 
Liability) 
£39,632 
(Additional 

N/A N/A

P
age 33



Page 10 of 23

Area
Number of 

referrals 
rejected

Number of 
investigations 

concluded
Summary of results Cashable savings Non-cashable 

savings Prevented losses

which resulted in the issue of civil penalties 
and one also in the overpayment of housing 
benefit.

liability for future 
years)
HB overpayments 
of £2,914
Civil Penalties 
£1,120

Housing Allocations 2 0 Nothing to report. N/A N/A N/A
Tenancy 1 3 Three cases concluded with no evidence of 

fraud.  
N/A N/A N/A

Responsive investigation work: internal investigations

Allegation Investigation activity & recommendations

Nothing to report.

P
age 34



Page 11 of 23

6. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme
6.1 The Standards require that: The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and 

improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet this requirement.  The Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service’s QAIP was agreed by the Finance & Audit Committee in February 2019. 

6.2 The arrangements set out in the QAIP have been implemented with the collection and monitoring of 
performance data largely automated through the team’s time recording and quality management 
processes. It should be noted that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent 
data quality verification. 

6.3 In line with the QAIP, the team monitor performance against a suite of 24 performance indicators based 
on the balanced scorecard, covering the four perspectives; financial, internal process, learning & growth 
and customer. The table below sets out the performance targets, which are grouped into measures for 
the service and those that are specific to the individual authority. Targets have been set for 17 of the 24 
indicators, however it should be noted that these are for full year outturns; as such outturns at present 
are not to target levels but are provided for Members information.  

Ref Indicator Target Outturn

Non LA Specific Performance Measurements 
Cost of the Audit & Counter Fraud Service 
a) Total Cost £599,944 (Budgeted Costs)

PM1

b) LA Share

N/A

£209,667
PM2 Cost per A&CF day £400

Proportion of staff with relevant professional 
qualification:
a) Relevant audit qualification 21%

PM3

b) Relevant counter fraud qualification

75%

50%
PM4 Proportion of non-qualified staff undertaking 

professional qualification training  
25% 14%

PM5 Time spent on CPD/non-professional 
qualification training, learning & 
development

70 days 16 Days

PM6 Compliance with PSIAS 100% The External Quality Assessment 
(EQA) conducted in February 2018 
was positive with performance in 
line with or above that of other local 
authorities as per benchmarking; 
however, it did not provide a 
percentage of compliance.
Our January 2019 self- assessment 
showed full compliance with 94% of 
the standards, partial compliance 
with a further 4% and work required 
to address the remaining 2%. 
We are working to address the areas 
that require improvement.

PM7 Staff turnover N/A 7%
LA Specific Performance Measurements 
PM8 Average cost per assurance review £5,000  £4,364

Page 35



Page 12 of 23

Ref Indicator Target Outturn

PM9 Proportion of available resources spent on 
chargeable work 

N/A 85%

Proportion of chargeable time spent on:
a) assurance work 55%

PM10

b) consultancy work

N/A

1%
Proportion of chargeable time spent on: 
a) proactive counter fraud work 18%

PM11

b) reactive counter fraud work

N/A

26%
PM12 Proportion of chargeable time spent on 

SPOC associated duties
N/A 14 days

Proportion of agreed assurance assignments:
a) Delivered 17%

PM13

b) Underway

95%

8%
PM14 Proportion of completed reviews subject to 

a second stage (senior management) quality 
control check in addition to the primary 
quality control review

10% 0

PM15 Proportion of recommended actions agreed 
by client management

90% 100%

Number of recommendations agreed that 
are:
a) not yet due 30
b) Implemented 11

PM16

c) Outstanding

N/A

11
PM17 Proportion of recommended actions 

implemented by agreed date
N/A 50%

PM18 Number of referrals received N/A 111
PM19 Number of investigations closed N/A 133

Value of fraud losses identified: 

a) cashable (losses that can be recovered) £136,980

b) non-cashable (notional savings based on 
national estimates)

£0

PM20

c) Prevented Losses (Savings associated 
with blocked applications)

N/A

£0

PM21 Customer satisfaction with individual 
review/assignment

95% No completed surveys received 
during reporting period.

PM22 Customer satisfaction with overall service 95% A wider satisfaction survey was last 
completed in March 2019 and was 
positive. Due to the Covid 19 
pandemic, it was not possible to 
conduct a review during 2020-21. 
We hope to issue a new survey later 
in 2021-22.

PM23 Member satisfaction with assurance 
provided (based on Chair of Audit 
Committee contribution to Appraisal of the 
Head of Audit & Counter Fraud role

Positive The Chair of the Audit Committee 
will be invited to contribute to the 
HIACF’s mid-year performance 
review.

PM24 Statement of external audit Positive External Audit report by exception. 
At the time of writing this report, no 
concerns had been raised with the 

Page 36



Page 13 of 23

Ref Indicator Target Outturn

Head of Internal Audit and Counter 
Fraud by Grant Thornton.

7. Review of Audit & Counter Fraud Plan
7.1 Monitoring of the delivery of planned work is built into the team’s processes with individual officer time 

recording data feeding into an automated performance monitoring workbook; this tracks the 
performance of the team against the shared service work-plan as a whole and enables the supervisory 
staff to plan and support officers to deliver their individual work plans. On at least a quarterly basis, a 
projection of the resources that will be available to the year-end is carried out and compared to 
forecasts for each item of work on the plan to be completed. 

7.2 As detailed in paragraph 4.4, we are currently projecting a loss of approximately 38 days from expected 
audit resources. One service has requested that a review be postponed to 2022-23, which will account 
for 15 of the days lost.

7.3 It is proposed that the review of the Performance Management framework be deferred to 2022-23 as 
verification of performance data was paused during 2020-21 in light of the pressures created by the 
covid pandemic. A review of the framework would not take account of the normal processes and 
procedures and therefore not provide an accurate picture for assurance purposes. On that basis, it is felt 
that it would be more effective if the review was conducted at a later date when normal processes have 
resumed. 

7.4 We will continue to monitor the impact on resources to determine whether further changes to the 
agreed plan are required but at this stage, the aim is to continue to direct resource to planned assurance 
work rather than the allowances for responsive activity, which will hopefully account for the remaining 
losses.

8. Follow up of agreed recommendations
8.1 Where the work of the team finds opportunities to strengthen the council’s risk management, 

governance and/or control arrangements, the team make and agree recommendations for 
improvement with service managers. The Standards require that a follow-up process is established: to 
monitor and ensure that management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior 
management has accepted the risk of not taking action. As with all audit work, resources should be 
prioritised based on risk. 

8.2 Service managers are asked to provide an update on action taken towards implementing all 
recommendations due on a monthly basis and are also asked to supply evidence to confirm that action 
has been taken in respect of all High priority recommendations, which is verified by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team.  

8.3 The first of the two tables below details the current position in relation to the follow up process and the 
second details recommendations that are now more than six months over their planned implementation 
date; along with an update from the relevant Service Manager/Assistant Director/Director. Some also 
contain details of revised implementation dates that have been agreed by Management Team.

Page 37



Page 14 of 23

Status of agreed recommendations

Audit title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management
Number of recommendations due for 

implementation where a positive 
management response has been received

Homelessness Opinion: Red. 
Four recommendations agreed: three high and one medium priority.  
Recommendations relate to the website being updated in line with the Homelessness 
Reduction Act, and the rebadging, implementation and publication of the Homelessness 
Prevention Strategy, as in line with the Rough Sleeping Strategy delivery plan, the creation of 
procedure notes to support the new requirements of the act, and looking at prevention 
measures and longer term accommodation options, in order to make better use of the 
temporary accommodation budget, and help prevent homelessness.

Four recommendations due, three 
implemented.
One high priority outstanding relating 
looking at prevention measures and longer-
term accommodation options.

Use of Enforcement 
Services

Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: one high, one medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to the council’s Corporate Fair Debt Policy being circulated to all 
relevant staff, the council’s procedures and policy in respect of vulnerable debtors being 
reviewed and shared with the  Enforcement Agents, Debt Collection Agents and Sheriffs used, 
and appropriate agreements being put in place for all enforcement services, including expected 
performance arrangements then being put in place for performance to be monitored in line 
with the agreement, including documenting any meetings held.

Three recommendations due, two 
implemented. 
One high priority outstanding relating to 
appropriate agreements being put in place 
for all enforcement services, including 
expected performance arrangements then 
being put in place for performance to be 
monitored in line with the agreement, 
including documenting any meetings held.

Business Continuity 
– IT Backup 
Arrangements

Opinion: Amber.
Two high priority recommendations agreed.  
Recommendations relate to the introduction of a test schedule to comply with requirement of 
the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the IT Disaster Recovery Plan being updated and reviewed 
in line with the overarching Business Continuity Plan.

Two recommendation due, one 
implemented.
One high priority outstanding relating to the 
introduction of a test schedule to comply 
with requirement of the Civil Contingencies 
Act 2004.

Tenancy 
Enforcement

Opinion: Amber.
Three high priority recommendations agreed.  
Recommendations relate to the introduction of procedure guidance for staff, directly relating 
to tenancy enforcement, to ensure consistency of action and that accurate records are 
maintained; reviewing training available for Housing Officers; and, ensuring tenancies are 
ended promptly on the housing management system and a consistent approach is followed 
when transferring tenancies, with approval for any significant overlaps. 

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented. 

P
age 38



Page 15 of 23

Audit title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management
Number of recommendations due for 

implementation where a positive 
management response has been received

Unauthorised 
Encampments

Opinion: Amber. 
Two medium priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to the provision of diversity based training to officers and 
implementing procedures to archive/delete data they no longer require.

Two recommendations due, two 
implemented. 

Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & Overtime

Opinion: Amber.
Four high priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to creating a central flexi / TOIL guidance document and circulating 
this to staff, reminding line managers of their role in checking time recording sheets on a 
regular basis to ensure there are no contraventions to the guidance, the creation of a local 
policy on overtime based around the guidance in the Green Book and any council additions to 
this, and service managers being reminded of this guidance.

Four recommendations due, none 
implemented. 
Four high priority outstanding relating to 
creating a central flexi / TOIL guidance 
document and circulating this to staff, 
reminding line managers of their role in 
checking time recording sheets on a regular 
basis to ensure there are no contraventions 
to the guidance, the creation of a local policy 
on overtime based around the guidance in 
the Green Book and any council additions to 
this, and service managers being reminded 
of this guidance.

Apprenticeship 
Scheme

Opinion: Amber.
Five recommendations agreed: two high, two medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to a strategy being produced to document the aims and objectives of 
the council’s  apprenticeship scheme and how these will be achieved; a process being put in 
place to ensure that apprenticeships are promoted and considered at the earliest stage of 
recruitment; the Apprenticeship Policy being reviewed and updated, arrangements being put in 
place for the apprenticeship spreadsheet to be monitored and updated regularly, and 
arrangements being made for checks to be undertaken of all payments to and from the 
Apprenticeship Service Account to ensure accuracy.

Five recommendations due, two 
implemented. 
One high and two medium priority 
outstanding relating to a strategy being 
produced to document the aims and 
objectives of the council’s  apprenticeship 
scheme and how these will be achieved; a 
process being put in place to ensure that 
apprenticeships are promoted and 
considered at the earliest stage of 
recruitment; and, the Apprenticeship Policy 
being reviewed and updated.

Payroll 
Establishment, 
Payments & 
Deductions

Opinion: Green.
Two medium priority recommendations agreed. 
Recommendations relate to probationary periods being monitored to ensure increments are 
correctly applied, and instructions received to add or amend allowances being checked to 
ensure they are at applied at the correct level.

Two recommendations due, two 
implemented.  

P
age 39



Page 16 of 23

Audit title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management
Number of recommendations due for 

implementation where a positive 
management response has been received

Fraud Focused 
Review of Lone 
Workers 

Opinion: Amber.
Six recommendations agreed: Four high and two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to reviewing and updating the procedures linked to the lone working 
policy, officers being reminded of the need to include sufficient details of diarised visits, 
managers being reminded of their responsibilities for contacting officers working away from 
the office, records of visits being maintained after the event to enable validation of timesheets 
and mileage claims, a reminder for staff undertaking lone working duties to perform security 
checks prior to visits, including checking the unacceptable behaviour register as appropriate, 
and managers undertaking regular quality control checks of visits.

No recommendations due prior to 31 July 
2021

Member Standards Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: Two medium and one pow priority.
Recommendations relate to the Member training requirements included in the Constitution 
being reviewed for consistency, arrangements being put in place to maintain a central log of 
attendance at Planning & Licensing training, including 1-1 sessions, to ensure ‘refresher’ 
training is provided to Committee Members at the appropriate frequency, and the point of 
contact for declaring gifts and hospitality being clarified and the Member Gifts and Hospitality 
register being retained in accordance with the requirements of the Member Code of Conduct.  

One recommendation due, one 
implemented. 

Fraud Focused 
Review of Staff 
Leave Booking

Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: One high and two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to guidance being updated to include descriptions of all various types 
of leave; detailing those which are deducted from leave entitlement and those which are not, 
deadlines, deadlines being included with annual instruction to book bank holidays and ex-gratia 
day, and managers at all levels ensuring bank holidays for staff and themselves are booked.

Three recommendations due, two 
implemented. 
One high priority outstanding relating to 
managers at all levels ensuring bank holidays 
for staff and themselves are booked.

Capital Accounting 
(HRA) 

Opinion: Green.
One low priority recommendation agreed. 
Recommendation relates to arrangements for documenting the approval and evaluation of CP1 
forms being reviewed.

One recommendation due, one 
implemented. 

Shared Services Opinion: Amber. 
One high priority recommendation agreed.
Recommendation relates to a review of all Shared Service Agreements.

No recommendations due prior to 31 July 
2021

IT Asset 
Management

Opinion: Red.
Five high priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to arrangements being made for the IT Asset Register to be reviewed 
for accuracy and completeness; regular independent reviews of the IT Asset Register being 

Two recommendations due, two 
implemented.

P
age 40



Page 17 of 23

Audit title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management
Number of recommendations due for 

implementation where a positive 
management response has been received

carried out, including physical checks of IT assets to ensure they are still held by the intended 
users; ensuring there is a robust process for identifying staff leavers; ensuring IT assets are 
recovered when staff leave the council and that the IT Asset Register is promptly updated; an 
accurate record being prepared of all unallocated IT assets and regular reconciliations taking 
place to ensure this record is accurate and up to date, with all discrepancies investigated and 
reported as appropriate; and, all sales/disposals of IT assets being undertaken in accordance 
with the ICT Disposals Policy

Private Housing 
Enforcement

Opinion: Red.
Five high priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to private Housing procedures being written  and tailored to ensure 
they reflect local priorities; the team investigating digitalisation of Private Housing enforcement 
processes, including making best use of the systems available and moving away from paper 
files, as well as well as reviewing arrangements to ensure the Public HMO Register is accurate; 
arrangements being put in place to facilitate the timely renewal of HMO licences and for 
enforcement action to be taken where this is not the case; arrangements being put in place to 
ensure the council is able to take robust private housing enforcement action; the necessary 
work to facilitate the introduction of Civil Penalties being progressed; and, the service exploring 
alternative means to hold the landlord forums and otherwise engage with landlords

One recommendation implemented before 
report finalised. No other recommendations 
due before 31 July 2021.

Cyber Security Opinion: Amber. 
Seven recommendations agreed: three high and four medium priority. 
Recommendations relate to adjustment to arrangements as a result of changes brought about 
by the COVID-19 pandemic and enhancements to arrangements for access and monitoring staff 
completion of training /policies. 

No recommendations due prior to 31 July 
2021

Corporate Debt 
Recovery

Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: one high, one medium  and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to a review of the debt data matching process and the tools involved, 
including an assessment on the number of potential corporate debt cases and the resource 
required to manage these cases; the process to be followed should corporate debt fail to 
engage with customers and/or payments are stopped being documented; and, reviewing the 
process for updating customer records on relevant systems following corporate debt action to 
ensure all officers have up to date information on the status of corporate debt cases.  

No recommendations due prior to 31 July 
2021

Traded Services – 
Rosherville Ltd

Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: one high and two medium priority. Recommendations relate 
to consideration of the Rosherville Ltd board including the Non-Executive Directors, training for 

No recommendations due prior to 31 July 
2021

P
age 41



Page 18 of 23

Audit title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management
Number of recommendations due for 

implementation where a positive 
management response has been received

additional staff on roles and responsibilities, and performance reporting from Rosherville to the 
Shareholder Board.

P
age 42



Page 19 of 23

Recommendations outstanding more than six months after scheduled implementation date

Directorate Audit title Recommendation Priority Planned 
implementation 

date

Management update

Housing & 
Operations

Homelessness A scheme working with private landlords 
& organisations should be put in place, 
along with looking for longer term 
accommodation options, in order to 
make  better use of the temporary 
accommodation budget, and to help 
prevent homelessness.

High 31 December 
2019

The service have relaunched the first landlord 
forum in some considerable time and this will be a 
platform to network and engage with landlords 
and agents with accommodation.  In addition to 
this, the service has undergone a restructure which 
is due to be implemented on 1 October 2021 and 
this has incorporated Prevention Officers and 2 
dedicated Landlord Liaison Officers to push this 
piece of work forward.  To see results following 
these changes will take some considerable time as 
there are relationships to build on with our private 
sector.  Monitoring of temporary accommodation 
is underway and again the restructure has a 
dedicated Temporary Accommodation role which 
will be able to monitor placements, support 
vulnerable people and ensure income 
maximisation.
A revised implementation date of 30 June 2022 has 
been approved by Management Team.

Corporate 
Services

Use of 
Enforcement 
Services

Appropriate agreements should be put in 
place for all enforcement services, 
including expected performance. 
Arrangements should then be put in place 
for performance to be monitored in line 
with the agreement, including 
documenting any meetings held.

High 31 December 
2019

A draft Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) 
was produced and circulated to members of the 
Corporate Debt Working Group (CDWG) for 
comment. This is to be sent to legal colleagues for 
comment once responses from the CDWG have 
been received. Once legal comments have been 
received this will then be progressed.
A revised implementation date of 31 March 2022 
has been approved by Management Team.

Corporate 
Services

Business 
Continuity – IT 

Regular testing of the backup 
arrangements to be put into place once 
the review and any alterations to the 

High 30 June 2020 Although outstanding as of 31 July 2021, this 
recommendation has now been implemented.

P
age 43



Page 20 of 23

Backup 
Arrangements

system have been implemented; ensuring 
compliance with the requirements of the 
Civil Contingencies Act 2004 to regularly 
review and test all aspects of the Business 
Continuity Plan.

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & 
Overtime

Information about flexi time and TOIL on 
the intranet should be reviewed and a 
central document created and circulated 
to staff; in addition to the information 
already provided on the intranet, this 
should include:
- guidance regarding the operation of 
TOIL, including eligibility, the rate at 
which time can be re-claimed and how 
this should be recorded;
- clarification on whether a timesheet 
needs to be completed by employees 
who are not taking part in the flexi 
scheme;
- the requirement to book flexi leave and 
TOIL on SS4U, including clarification on 
the recording of part-days;
- additional information / examples on 
how time should be recorded on days 
when personal appointments have 
occurred;
- responsibility for completing 
timesheets, including updating the 
templates;
- a reminder for staff that that they 
should ensure the correct number of 
hours are recorded for a standard 
working day / half day;
- the requirement to give an explanation 
for any authorised adjustments.

High 31 December 
2020

A new Hybrid Working Policy was taken to 
Management Team on 31 August 2021 and 
following amendments will be going back on 14 
September for sign off for an agreed trial period 
between 01 October 2021 and March 2022, when 
it will be reviewed again. 
Development of the Managers Toolkit on the 
intranet is still in progress and a meeting is taking 
place with the digital team at the beginning of 
September 2021 to discuss upload of content. P

age 44



Page 21 of 23

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & 
Overtime

Following the circulation of the guidance 
recommended at R1, line managers 
should be reminded of their role in 
ensuring that this is adhered to, by 
checking and signing-off timesheets on a 
monthly basis, as well as how they should 
deal with any concerns.

High 31 December 
2020

A new Hybrid Working Policy was taken to 
Management Team on 31 August 2021 and 
following amendments will be going back on 14 
September for sign off for an agreed trial period 
between 01 October 2021 and March 2022, when 
it will be reviewed again. 
Development of the Managers Toolkit on the 
intranet is still in progress and a meeting is taking 
place with the digital team at the beginning of 
September 2021 to discuss upload of content.

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & 
Overtime

A council overtime policy document 
should be created, highlighting the Green 
Book section on overtime and reiterating 
the correct rates of pay and the Working 
Time Directive. The policy should include 
the process for claiming overtime. This 
document along with a copy of the 
Conditions of Service of the National Joint 
Council for Local Government Services 
(Green Book) should be made available 
on the intranet.

High 31 December 
2020

A new Hybrid Working Policy was taken to 
Management Team on 31 August 2021 and 
following amendments will be going back on 14 
September for sign off for an agreed trial period 
between 01 October 2021 and March 2022, when 
it will be reviewed again. 
Development of the Managers Toolkit on the 
intranet is still in progress and a meeting is taking 
place with the digital team at the beginning of 
September 2021 to discuss upload of content.

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & 
Overtime

Service managers should be reminded of 
the overtime rates including the 
guidelines for part-time staff and also the 
Working Time Directive.

High 31 December 
2020

Development of the Managers Toolkit on the 
intranet is still in progress and a meeting is taking 
place with the digital team at the beginning of 
September 2021 to discuss upload of content.

Communities Apprenticeship 
Scheme

A strategy should be produced to 
document the aims and objectives of the 
council’s apprenticeship scheme and how 
these will be achieved.

High 31 December 
2020

The Employability Officer started in post on 
16/08/2021 and has been tasked with developing 
a strategy for the GBC Apprenticeship scheme.  
However, this role is also responsible for the Kick 
Start scheme, which has had to take priority due 
to the deadlines involved.  We are anticipating 
that a strategy will be available to present to 
Management Team by the end of this financial 
year at the latest.
A revised implementation date of 31 March 2022 
has been agreed by Management Team.

P
age 45



Page 22 of 23

Communities Apprenticeship 
Scheme

A process should be put in place to 
ensure that apprenticeships are 
promoted and considered at the earliest 
stage of recruitment.

Medium 31 December 
2020

The Employability Officer started in post on 
16/08/2021 and has been tasked with developing 
a strategy for the GBC Apprenticeship scheme.  
However, this role is also responsible for the Kick 
Start scheme, which has had to take priority due 
to the deadlines involved.  We are anticipating 
that a strategy will be available to present to 
Management Team by the end of this financial 
year at the latest.
A revised implementation date of 31 March 2022 
has been agreed by Management Team.

Communities Apprenticeship 
Scheme

The Apprenticeship Policy should be 
reviewed and updated.

Medium 31 December 
2020

The Employability Officer started in post on 
16/08/2021 and has been tasked with developing 
a strategy for the GBC Apprenticeship scheme.  
However, this role is also responsible for the Kick 
Start scheme, which has had to take priority due 
to the deadlines involved.  We are anticipating 
that a strategy will be available to present to 
Management Team by the end of this financial 
year at the latest.
A revised implementation date of 31 March 2022 
has been agreed by Management Team.

P
age 46



Appendix A

Page 23 of 23

Definitions of audit opinions & recommendation 
priorities

Green – Risk 
management operates 
effectively and 
objectives are being 
met 

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well 
managed and the service objectives are being met. Any errors 
found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be 
isolated. Recommendations made are considered to be 
opportunities to enhance existing arrangements.

Amber – Key risks are 
being managed to 
enable the key 
objectives to be met 

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally 
complied with ensuring significant risks are adequately managed 
and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure 
to comply with controls or errors / omissions have been identified. 
Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls 
have been identified and recommendations have been made to 
improve this.

Red – Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met 

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key 
control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or there is evidence 
of significant non-compliance.  Risk management is not considered 
to be effective and the service risks failing to meet its objectives, 
significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety or damage to reputation.  
Recommendations have been made to introduce new controls, 
improve compliance with existing controls or improve the 
efficiency of operations.

High The findings indicate a fundamental weakness in control that leaves the 
council exposed to significant risk. The recommended action addresses 
the weakness identified; to mitigate the risk exposure and enable the 
achievement of key objectives. Management should address the 
recommendation as a matter of urgency. 

Medium The findings indicate a weakness in control, or lack of compliance with 
existing controls, that leaves the system open to risk, although it is not 
critical to the achievement of objectives. Management should address the 
recommendation within a reasonable timeframe.

Low The findings have identified an opportunity to enhance the efficiency or 
effectiveness of the system/control environment. Management should 
address the recommendation as resources allow. 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 21 September 2021

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: National Fraud Initiative Progress Report

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update on the work completed in relation to the data matches 
received as part of the National Fraud Initiative Exercises 2019-20 and 2020-21 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information only.

1. Introduction

1.1 The council proactively takes part in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) exercise, 
which is co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office. This is a nationwide data matching 
exercise, comparing computer records held by the council against other computer 
records held by councils and other public bodies, with a view to identifying 
potential instances of fraud or irregularity. 

1.2 There are two separate exercises, one matches council tax single person discount 
(SPD) to the electoral register and is run on an annual basis. Data is submitted 
between December, once the electoral register has been published, and February 
the following year, with the results received within hours. 

1.3 The second exercise takes data from the council in relation to; 

 housing (tenancies, right to buy, waiting list),
 housing benefit,
 council tax reduction,
 residents parking permits,
 creditors (historic and standing),
 market traders,
 personal alcohol licences,
 payroll, and
 private hire (taxi) licences,

Page 49 Agenda Item 7



2

and is run on a bi-annual basis with data submitted in October and the results 
identified from the subsequent data matching released to the authority in January 
the following year. 

1.4 Matches can be reviewed by the individual services they relate to, with suspicious 
results referred to the Audit & Counter Fraud (A&CF) Service for investigation or 
reviewed directly by the A&CF service.

1.5 This report provides an update on the 2019-20 exercise, which relates to the 
council tax single persons discount exercise.

1.6 There is also an update on the matches received as part of the 2020-21 bi-annual 
exercise, which includes the data sets described in paragraph 1.3 above.

2. Progress with the 2019-20 Council Tax Exercise

2.1 In total 934 matches were received across three reports. These relate to persons 
with a single person discount where the data match has identified:

 Report 801 - Electoral roll with more than one person at the address (793 
matches),

 Report 802 - Electoral roll suggesting an occupant who is about to reach 18 (63 
matches), and

 Report 803 - Other records showing alternative persons registered at the 
address (78 matches).

2.2 These matches were reviewed by the A&CF Service. The current position for all 
reports, as of 31 August 2021, is as follows;

2.3 Report 801:

 292 matches were rejected as not requiring investigation. This is because they 
have been cleared as part of previous exercises.

 3 matches currently open while enquiries are conducted.
 436 closed with no evidence of fraud.
 62 SPD removed (six replaced with alternative discount).

2.4 Report 802:

 47 closed with no evidence of fraud.
 16 SPD removed (two replaced with alternative discount).

2.5 Report 803:

 One match currently open while enquiries are conducted.
 72 closed with no evidence of fraud.
 five SPD removed.

2.6 To date, this has led to overall additional CTAX liability of £77,777 and an 
additional £33,440 in future years in relation to discounts and council tax reduction 
that will no longer be applied. In addition, 16 civil penalties were issued for 
negligently failing to report changes that impacted on eligibility for a discount, 
totalling £1,120.

2.7 In the coming months, the Cabinet Office will remove access to the data for the 
2019-20 exercise as it prepares to release matches for the 2021-22 Council Tax 

Page 50



3

exercise. Anything that remains open at this time, is subject to ongoing 
investigations and will be reported to the Committee along with other counter 
fraud activity in the audit & counter fraud update reports but there will be no 
further update in respect of the 2019-20 exercise itself. 

3. Progress with the 2020-21 Exercise

3.1 As Members are aware, a large proportion of counter fraud resource was 
redeployed to assist other services during 2020-21 and as a consequence, activity 
relating to the 2019-20 exercise was significantly delayed and was ongoing when 
the matches for the 2020-21 exercise were received. Progress is therefore more 
limited than we would have normally anticipated at this stage in the year.

3.2 The matches received can be categorised in seven key areas of the council and 
progress as at 31 August 2021 is reported under each of those headings.

Council Tax 

3.3 The matches relating to council tax (CTAX) are checked by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Service and initially 2,282 matches were received across the various 
reports. These relate to persons with a single person discount where the data 
match has identified;

 Report 801 - Electoral roll with more than one person at the address (779 
matches),

 Report 802 - Electoral roll suggesting an occupant who is about to reach 
18 (21 matches), and

 Report 803 - Other council records showing alternative persons registered 
at the address (1482 matches).

3.4 Report 801:

 626 matches yet to be checked.
 42 matches currently open while enquiries are conducted.
 110 closed with no evidence of fraud.
 One SPD removed (One replaced with alternative discount).

3.5 Report 802:

 21 matches yet to be checked.

3.6 Report 803:

 1482 matches yet to be checked.

Housing Benefit 

3.7 Results linked to housing benefit (HB) are spread across 14 different reports. 
These reports identify potential employment, other income and additional 
residents that may not have been declared for the purpose of the benefit 
assessment. It should be noted that the majority of these people are also in 
receipt of council tax reduction as part of their claim.

3.8 The benefits section have been responsible for reviewing the 41 matches linked to 
the 14 reports received in January 2021. Any instances of potential fraud are 

Page 51



4

referred directly to the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) for further 
investigation.

3.9 As of 31 August, enquiries linked to those 41 matches has resulted in the 
following;

 17 matches yet to be checked,
 23 closed with no evidence of fraud or error, 
 One match resulting in an overpayment of housing benefit/council tax 

reduction.

3.10 This currently represents an overall success rate of 2.44% and has led to the 
identification of housing benefit overpayments totalling £318.90. 

Council Tax Reduction

3.11 Results linked to Council Tax Reduction (CTR) are spread across 15 different 
reports. As with the HB dataset matches, these reports identify potential 
employment, other income and additional residents that may not have been 
declared for the purpose of the benefit assessment and the majority of those 
people are also in receipt of HB as part of the same claim. 

3.12 The benefits section are responsible for reviewing the 185 matches linked to the 
15 reports received in January 2021. Any instances of potential fraud were 
referred directly to the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) for further 
investigation.

3.13 As of 31 August, enquiries linked to those 189 matches has resulted in the 
following;

 56 matches yet to be checked,
 13 matches open for further enquiries,
 109 closed with no evidence of fraud or error 
 Eleven matches resulting in an overpayment of housing benefit/council tax 

reduction.

3.14 This currently represents an overall success rate of 5.82% to date and has led to 
the identification of HB overpayments totalling £601.09 and excess CTR awards 
of £555.06. In addition HB awards have been reduced by a total of £7.76 per 
week (annual saving of £403.52) and CTR awards have been reduced by a total 
of £53.96 per week (annual saving of £2,805.92)

Payroll

3.15 Payroll matches are aimed at identifying employees who may have undeclared 
secondary employment that could lead to a failure to work their contracted hours 
and also any employees that are creditors providing services to the council, which 
could lead to potential undeclared interests or procurement corruption.

3.16 17 matches were received across seven reports and to date 13 have been closed 
with no evidence of fraud. The remaining four are being checked with Payroll.

Housing

3.17 Results linked to housing are spread across 25 different reports. These reports 
identify individuals who potentially have tenancies with more than one authority, 

Page 52



5

discrepancies that suggest right to buy applications may be fraudulent, and 
individuals on the council waiting list that appear to have tenancies with other local 
authorities/Housing Associations or are on the waiting list of other local 
authorities. 

3.18 There will be discussions with the Housing Department about the review of the 
214 matches linked to the 28 reports received in January 2021. To date all 214 
are yet to be checked.

Parking

3.19 Residents Parking Permits are matched to the deceased data held by the DWP to 
identify any active permits registered to customers who are now deceased.

3.20 17 matches were received but are yet to be checked. 

Finance

3.21 Results linked to finance are spread across eight different reports. These reports 
identify potential duplicate payee records in the system, duplicate payments to 
creditors and overpayments of VAT. 

3.22 A total of 529 matches were received and are going to be reviewed by the finance 
service but to date all 529 are yet to be checked.

Business Grants

3.23 Data relating to the Small Business Grants (SBG), Retail, Hospitality & Leisure 
Grants (RHLG), and Discretionary Business Grants (DBG), that were issued 
during the first national lockdown was supplied as part of the submissions for the 
2020-21 exercise. 

3.24 Results linked to these grants are spread across two different reports. These 
reports identifying potential duplicate payments to recipients and also businesses 
that may also have received a grant from another authority. 

3.25 A total of 21 matches were received and have been subject to initial assessment 
by the Revenues Team with the following identified to date;

 Nine matches open for further investigation,
 12 closed with no evidence of fraud or error.  

3.26 There have been no positive results to date.

Overall Summary

3.27 Gravesham received a total of 3748 matches as part of the 2020-21 NFI exercise. 
Overall performance as of 31 August 2021 is as follows;

 3222 matches awaiting initial checks (85.97%),
 360 matches open for further enquiries (9.61%),
 183 closed with no evidence of fraud or error (4.88%)
 three matches have led to the identification of an error (0.8%)

o HB awards reduced by £7.76 (annual saving of £403.52)
o Housing and council tax benefit overpayments of £601.09 

Page 53



6

o CTR awards reduced by £53.96 per week (annual increase in liability 
of £2,805.92),

o Excess CTR awards creating additional historic liability of £555.06,
o One single person discount removed but no additional liability created 

as this was replaced with an alternative discount.

3.28 Progress in relation to the 2020-21 exercise is more limited than we would have 
hoped at this point in the year but periods of vacancy within the counter fraud 
team have had a significant impact on resource available. It is hoped that the 
appointment of a second intelligence analyst will assist with the checking of 
outstanding matches.

3.29 A further update will be provided to the Finance & Audit Committee in September 
2022. 

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 There are no background papers to this report.

Page 54



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
    

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance. The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible 
for establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has 
delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver 
internal audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government 
Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a 
key source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its 
internal control arrangements

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Plan but is particularly relevant to Objective 
#3 Progress.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications to this report.

Page 55

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


8

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital/website implications to this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 56



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

    Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Report for Cabinet
Report for Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 7 September 2021 / 21 September 2021

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 
2021/22 – Quarter One

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2021/22, including projected variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key areas of financial performance that may have an impact on 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), or 
Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

 This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance. This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2021/22 financial year for 
the first quarter to 30th June 2021, as well as updating Members on other key areas of 
financial performance.

1.2. The Council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s finances.  In 
addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring 
reports, these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to Management 
Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity which impacts on either budgetary provision or results in a 
permanent change to the staffing establishment to be considered and approved by 
Management Team

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 57 Agenda Item 9



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Revenue

2.1. There has been minimal movement against budget during Quarter One, and given the 
relatively early stage of the financial year, many nil variances are therefore being 
reported. At the end of Quarter One, there is a projected adverse variance for the year of 
£43,180. 

2.2. As reported in the 2020/21 Outturn Report, the Council ended the previous year in a 
favourable position, enabling budgets totalling £147,290 to be approved for carry 
forward into 2021/22. 

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end is projected to be £11.65m, constituted of 
minimum working balances of £2.0m, the General Fund reserve of £3.25m and usable 
Working Balances of £6.40m.

2.4. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net decrease in earmarked reserves 
of £7.31m. This reflects the start of the year position being £19.08m, and projected to be 
£11.77m at year-end. Of this movement, £4.41m relates to the NNDR Collection Fund 
Equalisation Reserve - see section 3.9.5 for further details.

2.5. It is important to note that significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position 
continue to come from the lack of clarity regarding the long-term future of local 
government funding and the financial consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic as 
central government supports starts to unwind in 2021/22.

2.6. Capital

2.7. The General Fund Capital Programme working budget is £57.32m, including £30.60m 
relating to The Charter, £5.15m for the St George’s Centre, £4m for a New Leisure 
Centre, and a combined £6.95m relating to Property/Land Acquisition schemes.  Actual 
spend, as at the end of Quarter One was £5.90m. 

3. REVENUE

3.1. Budget 2021/22

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2021/22 was £6,420,640, funded by a 
combination of retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, and Council Tax.  It 
also enabled a contribution of £98,270 to be made to Usable Working Balances, in 
accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. The table on the next page sets out the current assessment of performance against the 
Original Budget by Directorate, based on known and projected variances as at 30 June 
2021. 

Page 58



3

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2021/22 (£)

Forecast 
2021/22 (£)

Variation 
2020/22 (£)

Chief Executive 168,160 168,160 0
Communities 3,850,700 3,850,700 0
Corporate Services 2,917,210 2,836,580 (80,630)
Environment 5,511,040 5,511,040 0
Housing 1,225,680 1,225,680 0
Items carried forward from 2020/21 0 147,290 147,290
Non-Directorate Specific 888,960 888,960 0
Interest and Investment Income (772,000) (772,000) 0
Government Grant Funding (1,308,260) (1,308,260) 0
Transfers to/ (from) reserves (7,148,150) (7,276,210) (128,060)
Transfers to/ (from) balances 311,050 311,050 0
Transactions below the line 776,250 880,830 104,580
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 6,420,640 6,463,820 43,180

Business Rates Income (3,565,940) (3,565,940) 0
Council Tax Income (7,333,580) (7,333,580) 0
Parish Precepts (403,160) (403,160) 0
New Homes Bonus (311,050) (311,050) 0
Lower Tier Services Grant (126,260) (126,260) 0
Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 5,221,080 5,221,080 0
Use of Working Balances 98,270 98,270 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 43,180 43,180

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

3.2. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.2.1 There are no significant variances to report.

3.3. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.3.1. Street Lighting: Neutral variance – reserve funding of £73k (£23k from the NNDR 
Growth Fund Reserve, and £50k from Revenue Grants not yet applied) has been 
released in 2021/22 to facilitate the continuation of a Street Lighting project which 
commenced during 2020/21. This involves the conversion, where possible, of Council-
owned street and amenity lighting to LED lighting, as well as providing for maintaining 
and fixing existing assets.

3.3.2. Leisure Services: Neutral variance – reserve funding totalling £22k was initially made 
available during 2020/21 to support the furtherance of leisure development activities. 
This incorporated a refresh of the 2016 Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy, and a 
subsequent feasibility study to investigate the future of existing leisure provisions within 
the borough. The study includes an evaluation of prospective future capital and revenue 
costs as well as a management options appraisal to assist the Council in determining 

Page 59



4

the optimum way forward. £6k of the reserve funding was spent during 2020/21, with the 
remaining £16k now released to enable the studies to be completed during 2021/22.

3.3.3. Market Equipment: Neutral variance – reserve funding totalling £33k was initially 
made available during 2020/21 to finance necessary works at the Borough Market to 
extend the number of units capable of accommodating food traders. This incorporated a 
combination of electrical, extraction and kitchen works, designed to extend food-trading 
capabilities to an additional six units, and linked with the Market Strategy, which was 
formally adopted in May 2020. £22k of the reserve funding was spent during 2020/21, 
with the remaining £11k now released to complete the works during 2021/22.

3.4      CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £81k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE
3.4.1 Interest Payable: £81k favourable variance – expenditure within the General Fund 

Capital Programme during 2020/21 was lower than originally budgeted, which meant 
that there was a reduced borrowing requirement than initially envisaged. This is turn led 
to lower associated interest costs, which has continued into 2021/22 generating a 
positive budgetary impact. Additionally, where borrowing has been required, it has been 
at lower interest rates than originally budgeted, and therefore a combination of these two 
factors has led to a favourable projected variance of £81k in 2021/22.

 
3.4.2 Climate Change Initiatives: Neutral variance – following the success of the “Recycling 

On the Go” project which was trialled at St Andrew’s Gardens during 2020/21, the 
scheme is now being extended across other park areas – Riverside Leisure Area, 
Woodlands Parks and Camer Park. Resultantly, £28k has been made available from the 
Climate Change Reserve to support this work, which will enable the purchase of dual 
compartment litter and recycling bins, increasing both the litter capacity available as well 
as the aesthetic appearance at these locations.

3.5     ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE  – NIL VARIANCE
3.5.1 There are no significant variances to report. 

3.6     HOUSING DIRECTORATE –  NIL VARIANCE
3.6.1 There are no significant variances to report.

Page 60



5

3.7 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2020/21 – £147,290

3.7.1 The following items from 2020/21 have been approved for carry forward to 2021/22 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team:

Summary of General Fund 2020/21 year-end carry-forward requests

Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2021/22

Communities Environmental Health £6,100 Statutory Air Quality Action Plan required by DEFRA
Communities Community Engagement £15,000 Match funding of Cultural Waterside Grant - grant decision 

awaited. To assist with welcoming back to town centre 
following easing of Covid-19 restrictions.

Communities Basecamp £7,610 MOD Funding to be used for future armed forces event.
Communities Town Centre £14,250 Light Festival postponed from 2020/21.
Communities Town Centre £21,000 Investment in Town Centre activities as part of welcome 

back post restrictions.
Communities Arts Development £16,140 Align funds to the 2021/22 Arts & Cultural delivery 

programme, following cessation of Gravesham Arts 
Council SLA during 2020.

Communities Arts Development £3,370 Ticket sales from outdoor events to be used to fund 
events in 2021/22.

Communities Regulatory Services £19,500 Digital offering improvements to enhance overall service 
delivery - IT software & equipment.

Environment Cemeteries £9,320 Major works planned for Northfleet Cemetery in 2021/22.
Housing Private Housing £35,000 Housing Stock Condition Survey.

Total carry-forward requests £147,290

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2020/21

 
3.8     FUNDING STREAMS – £23K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.8.1 Transfers to/(from) reserves & Transactions below the line: net neutral variance – 
under accounting arrangements the corresponding entries relating to reserve-funded 
expenditure within services (the drawdown from the reserve and the transfer into the 
specific service) are shown here. The total of £128k relates to projected reserve funded 
items as described within individual Communities and Corporate Services Directorate 
sections above.

3.8.2 Transactions below the line – Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP): £23k 
favourable variance – the MRP charge for 2021/22 is based on the Council’s 
cumulative capital spend that is financed from either internal or external borrowing up to 
the end of 2020/21.  As the capital spend in 2020/21 on schemes financed from these 
sources was lower than anticipated at the time of setting the 2021/22 budget, there is a 
resulting projected favourable variance relating to MRP in 2021/22 of £23k.

Page 61



6

3.9     WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES

3.9.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect    
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2020/21 11,283,080 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 311,050 
Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund 98,270 
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2020/21) (43,180)
Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2021) including 
Minimum GF Working Balance 11,649,220 
Less: Minimum GF balance (2,000,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (3,250,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2021) 6,399,220 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

3.9.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
projected movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Forecast Forecast Forecast
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2021 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2022
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 465 (232) 200 433 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,163 (635) 100 628 
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,657 (1,983) 359 33 
Corporate Priorities Reserve 535 (100) 435 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 123 13 136 
Elections Reserve 74 18 92 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 5,075 (4,406) 669 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 371 (200) 100 271 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 474 (132) 132 474 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,223 221 1,444 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 375 (376) 226 225 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 140 140 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 240 57 297 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 500 
Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 700 
St George's Income Protection Reserve 1,240 1,240 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 1,147 (15) 1,132 
 Service Review Reserve 83 83 
 Playgrounds Reserve 136 (160) 69 45 
Decriminalisation Reserve 228 (210) 18 
Enterprise Reserve 151 (353) 375 173 
Climate Change Reserve 485 (28) 457 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 16,585 (8,830) 1,870 9,625 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 2,494 (345) --  2,149 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 19,079 (9,175) 1,870 11,774 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

Page 62



7

3.9.3 New approved uses of reserves are already referred to within individual directorates – 
see sections 3.3.1, 3.3.2, 3.3.3 and 3.4.2

3.9.4 Other reserve movements are initially forecast as per the original budget, and are 
subsequently updated as further expenditure plans are established. This can include 
use for both capital and revenue purposes, and incorporates any potential re-phasing of 
capital schemes between current and future years.

3.9.5 Of the overall projected net movement in earmarked reserves of around £7.3m, £4.4m, 
which equates to around 60% of this total, relates to the budgeted drawdown within the 
NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve. This is a unique situation for 2021/22, and 
is due to Collection Fund accounting arrangements arising from the Business Rates 
position attributable to the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020/21.

3.9.6 The additional Business Rates Section 31 grants received in 2020/21 (to compensate 
the Council for the loss of Business Rates income as a result of the extended retail relief 
given to retail, hospitality and leisure businesses, and nursery providers to support them 
through the pandemic), were transferred to the reserve at year-end 2020/21. The 
legislation that governs Collection Fund accounting means the related deficit as a result 
of the loss of Business Rates income during 2020/21 is not chargeable to the Council’s 
General Fund until 2021/22. As a result, the £4.4m reflected in the table above, will be 
drawn down from the reserve to offset this deficit in 2021/22 and is therefore not an 
available resource to the Council.

Page 63



8

3.10     MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

3.10.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around cost pressures and central 
government funding announcements, together with building in all known variances to the 
Council’s budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The MTFP 
shows that our budgeted expenditure will exceed our income for the foreseeable future. 
The latest version of the Medium Term Financial Plan is attached to this report at 
Appendix Two.

    Wider Risk Implications

3.10.2 As government support unwinds and the financial legacy of COVID-19 impacts start to 
emerge, it is difficult to predict how the MTFP will be affected during the short to medium 
term. As far as possible provision was made during the budget setting process for 
known impacts at that time. The council has experienced an increase in demand for 
some services and there are some income streams that are likely to be adversely 
impacted during this financial year, however these impacts are not yet fully known.

3.10.3 During the pandemic, there has been an increase in demand for temporary 
accommodation requests and homelessness provision. This is currently being managed 
within current budgets and management are taking steps to make changes to improve 
efficiency. The situation will continue to be kept under review and any financial impacts 
will be noted in future reporting. 

3.10.4 Although planning income is currently meeting expectations this could be affected going 
forward. 

3.10.5 In the area of car parking income, the council had budgeted for a decrease in income of 
£394K this financial year. Income levels continue to be monitored and any variances will 
be reported at future budget monitoring reports.

3.10.6 The MTFP is continually monitored and it is intended that at the end of Quarter Two 
further updates will be possible to provide more clarity on the financial impacts to the 
MTFP. 

Local Government Finance

3.10.7 There continues to be uncertainty on the long-term future of local government funding. 
Central Government support during the pandemic is starting to unwind and at the time of 
writing this report we are unaware of what future support will be made available to local 
government, if any. The Sales Fees and Charges compensation scheme came to an 
end on 30th June 2021. The final return under this scheme is expected during August 
2021 and it is likely that we will receive our last payment sometime in the Autumn.

Spending Review 2021

3.10.8 Reports in the Financial Times during July 2021 indicated that the spending review 
would be launched sometime during the summer. However, due to the “pingdemic”, the 
Chancellor has been forced to delay its launch until September. As reported recently in 
the news both the Chancellor and the Prime Minister were self-isolating, which has 
delayed both the spending review and an announcement on social care. 

Page 64



9

3.10.9 The Chancellor had planned to formally launch the spending review before the Summer 
Recess. Treasury sources have been quoted as saying that “preparatory work for the 
review had already begun and would continue over the summer”. The delayed “formal 
launch” will be in September and will provide “details for how much overall government 
spending will rise by in the next financial year”. The delay probably also makes a 
November announcement more likely than October. 

3.10.10From a local government funding perspective, the Chancellor’s launch statement in       
September should give us a broad outline of the spending totals that are available. 
However, details about the package for local government in 2022-23 are not going to be 
known until later in November, or even the provisional settlement in December 2021. It 
is still anticipated that the spending review will cover the remainder of the parliament, 
but the tight timescales might now make a one-year settlement more likely.

Borrowing 

Central Government Proposals, Capital Finance Framework

3.10.11The current system to regulate capital finance, has been in place since 2004, and is 
           based on the principle of local decision making and accountability. Local authorities are      
           free to determine their own capital strategies and decide how they deliver services on the 
           principle that they are best placed to make the decisions needed to support their local 
           communities.

3.10.12 The risks associated with borrowing for commercial investments have received 
particular attention. Since 2016, there has been a significant increase in local authority 
borrowing correlated with an increase in commercial investment. The National Audit 
Office report Local Authority Investment in Commercial Property stated that the 
estimated local authority investment in commercial property from 2016-17 to 2018-19 
was £6.6 billion and local authority commercial property acquisitions had risen by more 
than 14-fold in the period 2016-17 to 2018-19, compared with the preceding three years.

3.10.13 As a result, the Government plans to strengthen the current system while protecting the     
principles of local decision making. It intends to set out plans for both improving the  
stewardship role of MHCLG and to strengthen the current capital system so that it  
remains effective in driving good decision making and preventing excessive risk. It  
builds on some of the changes we have already seen, to the operation of the Public 
Works Loan Board (PWLB), which have been in place since November 2020 which are 
designed to stop local authorities from accessing PWLB borrowing if they are planning 
on undertaking investments primarily for yield. These changes were reported to 
members in July. We will inform members of the outcome of the government’s proposed 
changes and their potential impact in due course.

UK Infrastructure Bank

3.10.14  Launched in interim form in June 2021, the UK Infrastructure Bank (UKIB) is a private 
limited company wholly owned and backed by HM Treasury.

3.10.15 The new government-owned UK Infrastructure Bank (UKIB) is focused on increasing 
infrastructure investment across the United Kingdom. It will partner with the private 
sector and local government to finance a green industrial revolution and drive growth 
across the country.

Page 65



10

The Bank’s core objectives are to:

 Help tackle climate change, particularly meeting the net zero emissions target by 
2050.

 Support regional and local economic growth through better connectivity, 
opportunities for new jobs and higher levels of productivity.

3.10.16 The Bank will help to finance important projects in every region and nation of the UK in   
sectors including clean energy, transport, digital, water and waste.

3.10.17Working in partnership with local government and the private sector, the Bank will 
harness investment tailored to the needs of specific infrastructure projects, offering a 
range of financing tools including debt, equity, and guarantees.

3.10.18The bank will have an initial £12 billion of capital to deploy and will be able to issue £10 
billion of government guarantees, helping to unlock more than £40 billion of overall 
investment.

3.10.19The Bank’s £22 billion of financial capacity will consist of £5 billion of equity, £7 billion of  
debt, and £10 billion of guarantees.

3.10.20Local authority projects will be supported later in 2021.  From late summer 2021, 
financing will be available to local and mayoral authorities across the UK, for high-value 
and complex economic infrastructure projects.

3.10.21There are restrictions on borrowing for certain projects and lending rates are expected to 
be in line with the Public Works Loan Board however, we as an authority will monitor 
any updates and add this institution for consideration as a potential source of funding 
should there be a suitable project that meets the lending criteria.

            COVID-19

  3.10.22 The Council continues to act in an agency capacity, administering a series of business 
grants as part of national schemes the Government designed to help support local 
economies. As of writing, the Council has paid out over £26m.  This has been achieved 
through cross-departmental working involving officers from the Finance, Revenues & 
Benefits and Economic Development teams. This has enabled a further unlocking of 
Central Government funding in the region of £692K, which will be distributed to help 
support local businesses in the Borough.

Page 66



11

4.       GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The following table details the position of General Fund Capital Programme as at the 
end of Quarter One. This includes the revised original budget for 2021/22, taking into 
consideration adjustments for carried forward items as approved by the Section151 
Officer and the Council’s Management Team.

Scheme 2021/22 
Original 
Budget             

£

2021/22 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2021/22 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2021/22 
Actual 

Expenditure       
£

Outstanding 
Balance            

£
Essential Repairs to Buildings 615,000 307,350 922,350 24,010 (898,340)
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 0 14,830 14,830 0 (14,830)
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 232,000 292,560 524,560 125,940 (398,620)
Gatekeeper Replacement 0 50,000 50,000 0 (50,000)
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 0 100,000 100,000 0 (100,000)
Waste & Horticulture back office system 108,690 (17,850) 90,840 0 (90,840)
Replacement Playground Programme 159,870 0 159,870 0 (159,870)
IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 0 40,000 40,000 5,610 (34,390)
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 0 1,400,000 0 (1,400,000)
Property Acquisition Programme 3,286,980 0 3,286,980 0 (3,286,980)
Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 0 3,658,810 0 (3,658,810)
Land at Dering Way 3,590,190 0 3,590,190 0 (3,590,190)
St George's Centre 5,151,550 (480) 5,151,070 0 (5,151,070)
Cascades Replacement Flumes 0 3,730 3,730 0 (3,730)
Heritage Assets 200,000 44,570 244,570 0 (244,570)
Gym Equipment  Leisure Centres 0 47,800 47,800 0 (47,800)
Back up Generator 60,000 0 60,000 0 (60,000)
Parking Machines 251,200 0 251,200 0 (251,200)
LATCO development costs 0 18,600 18,600 0 (18,600)
LATCO working capital provision 0 225,010 225,010 0 (225,010)
Elizabeth Huggins Cottages 2,000,000 0 2,000,000 0 (2,000,000)
Parking Software 0 18,570 18,570 12,110 (6,460)
Purchase of Freighters 0 400,000 400,000 205,200 (194,800)
Enforcement of Private Housing 0 20,040 20,040 10,210 (9,830)
IT Infrastructure Assets 200,000 89,490 289,490 19,490 (270,000)
The Charter 27,295,500 3,299,680 30,595,180 5,451,860 (25,143,320)
Barrock Row Public Conveniences 0 4,340 4,340 2,360 (1,980)
Website Content Management System 65,000 0 65,000 0 (65,000)
MOT Lane, Brookvale Workshop 37,000 0 37,000 40,420 3,420
Street Cleaning Machine 49,000 0 49,000 0 (49,000)
New Leisure Centre 4,000,000 0 4,000,000 0 (4,000,000)

52,360,790 4,958,240 57,319,030 5,897,210 (51,421,820)

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2021/22

 Essential Repairs to Buildings – the phased upgrade of lighting within the Civic 
Centre to LED continues.  Three roofs at Cascades leisure centre have been recovered. 
We are now awaiting prices on recovering roofs at the Brookvale Depot together with 
confirmation that works proposed comply with Building Regulations.

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements - a number of improvement works are currently 
underway. This work is expected to be complete by the end of the 2021/22 financial 
year.

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – the vehicle fleet replacement plan is currently 
under review to take account of the potential purchase of electric vehicles.  A review is 

Page 67



12

being currently being undertaken by the Energy Saving Trust. The outcome of this 
review will help inform the decision making with regard to the purchase electric vehicles.

 Gatekeeper Replacement – Kent County Council approval has been received to 
introduce Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) enforcement of the King Street 
bus gate. Confirmation of the programme for installation is awaited prior to capital 
expenditure on the equipment being made.

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – The review of all flatted developments across 
the borough is underway to establish the type of bins required to enable residents in 
flats to be able to recycle their waste. A project plan for the implementation of recycling 
bins in GBC owned flats has been produced and bins are being purchased to support 
this plan. We are working with privately owned blocks of flats to implement dry recycling 
services.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – Work has started on the procurement of 
digital solutions for the Street Cleansing Service and to trial litter bin sensors.

 Replacement Playground Programme – a 20-year replacement programme is in place 
and is under review.  Orders has been placed to undertake some surfacing repairs. 

 IT Equipment air conditioning unit – contactors are now working on site with works 
due to complete by end of August.

 Brookvale Office Accommodation - Work to redesign the Brookvale depot and deliver 
commercial accommodation at the site has been deferred to this financial year. No 
further update has been received for Quarter One.

 Property Acquisition Programme – No property acquisitions were considered in the 
first quarter of the financial year.

 Land Acquisition Programme – No Land acquisition opportunities were considered in 
the first quarter of the financial year.

 St George’s Centre – There are currently no further works planned to the St Georges 
Shopping Centre during this quarter.

 Cascades Replacement Flumes - The flumes are now available to be used once the 
Cascades pool re-opens in the summer in line with Covid-19 restrictions being lifted. A 
small amount of remedial work remains to the external flume steelworks. This work is 
expected to be completed during the summer.

 Heritage Assets – capital expenditure to date relates to surveys and site investigations 
in support of progressing works to the council’s heritage property assets.  Preparations 
are being made for works to the St Andrew’s Riverwall and maintenance works to the 
Gravesend Blockhouse.  Expressions of interest are being finalised for submission of 
projects for funding to the National Heritage Lottery Fund.

 Gym Equipment Leisure Centres – The main gym equipment at both leisure centres 
has been updated during the Covid-19 pandemic period. A decision to hold back on 
replacing the spin bikes was taken with GCLL whilst current Government guidelines 
restricted the amount of people that could take part in-group exercise sessions. 
Therefore, it is anticipated that these will be replaced later in the financial year once the 
leisure centres are able to operate without a limit on participant numbers.

Page 68



13

 Back-up Generator – an upgrade option is being investigated and a possibility of used 
replacement is being explored.

 Parking Machines - options are currently being appraised for the replacement and 
upgrade of Pay & Display machines. Steps are being taken to make a recommendation 
for decision later in the year.

 LATCO Development Costs - no request for further drawdown were received in first 
quarter of the financial year.

 LATCO Working Capital Provision - no request for further drawdown of the working 
capital provision were received from Rosherville Limited as at the end of the first quarter.

 
 Elizabeth Huggins Cottages - no request for drawdown of funding was received in the 

first quarter of the financial year.  On 18 May 2021 Full Council authorised the loan 
facility to be made available for all stages of the development scheme, not just the 
element of the scheme previously referred to as phase one.

 Parking Software - the back office parking software and the virtual permit system has 
been implemented and is now live. The environmental enforcement module and the bus 
gate enforcement module has not been implemented yet. Both are due to go live in the 
during this financial year.

 Purchase of Freighters - two new refuse collection vehicles have been ordered and 
are due to be delivered.  The current replacement programme has been suspended until 
the results of the Consistency in Household Waste Consultation has been released, so 
any potential effect to service delivery can be assessed.

 Enforcement of Private Housing Standards - This programme of work has now been 
completed and signed-off by our Senior Environmental Health Officer (Private Housing). 
There are some outstanding invoices yet to be received and paid.

 IT Infrastructure Assets – there has been no change in expenditure. However, approx. 
£100k will be spent in September 2021 on licence renewals and upgrades to the Citrix 
system.

 The Charter - Legal agreements between all parties were agreed on 16th March 2021 
and works on site are underway to bring forward 242 residential units and a new multi-
storey car park.  A ground-breaking ceremony took place on 15 June 2021.

 Barrock Row Public Conveniences – This is part of a wider Kent County Council bus 
interchange project and relates to the inclusion of public toilets. £4k was rolled over to 
the 21/22 budget to cover the remaining cost towards the electricity connection and the 
expected cost from Southern Water for the new facility.

 Website Content Management System – Officers are currently exploring 
procurements options for the most effective way of facilitating this project with a decision 
to be made during the 2nd quarter of 2021/22 on the most appropriate way forward.

 MOT Lane, Brookvale Workshop – The MOT Lane has now been procured. The 
groundworks are underway with expected completion to be August/September 2021.

 New leisure Centre – A feasibility study on future leisure centre provision is currently 
being undertaken by KKP leisure consultants. This work is in two phases. The first 
phase includes an update on the existing indoor built leisure strategy work undertaken in 

Page 69



14

2016 in order to revise current and future deficiencies; with the second phase outlining 
options for a new built facility, with a primary focus on the Cascades Leisure Centre site. 
It was estimated that both phases of this initial strategic work would be completed by 
September 2021.  

Page 70



15

5 Capital Resources

5.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in      
the future:    

General Fund Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2021                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2021/22                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2021/22                                                          

£       

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2022           
£

Capital Receipts (473,940) (6,670) 480,610 0
S106 Capital Contributions (577,200) (285,280) 0 (862,480)
Capital Grants unapplied (138,500) 0 0 (138,500)
Total Capital Resources (1,189,640) (291,950) 480,610 (1,000,980)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2021/22

Capital Grants Unapplied
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2020                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2021/22                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2021/22              

£

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2022              
£

Transport Quarter Stage 3 0 0 0 0
Localised Council Tax Support (83,500) 0 0 (83,500)
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (138,500) 0 0 (138,500)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2021/22

Page 71



5.1. The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions
General 

Fund             
£

HRA               
£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2021/22                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,590) 0.00 0.00 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0.00 0.00 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0.00 0.00 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (17,000) 0.00 0.00 (17,000) Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000.
Whitehill Road   0.00 0.00 (2,680) (2,680) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0.00 0.00 (150,000)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (189,120) 0.00 0.00 (189,120)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Dover Road - Open space (50,000) 0.00 0.00 (50,000)

For use by Gravesend Council leisure for Springhead Recreation Ground pitch 
improvements at Dover Road Development,  Includes levelling works to make 
'pitch' 2  more usable to accommodate junior markings and potential 5V5 pitch.

Cold Harbour Road (92,000) 0.00 0.00 (92,000)
To be used to fund projects to improve and enhance the Fleet Leisure Centre or 
such other leisure facilities situated within 5 miles of the Site.

Meopham Police Station (24,500) 0.00 0.00 (24,500)
Income received - Planning number is 20141214. We await a copy of the S106 
agreement to the Development of the Meopham Police Station.

Rosherville Property Development Ltd (285,270) 0.00 (155,230) (440,500)

£285,266 & £155,232 expected  NHS contributions toward Strategic Access 
Management & Monitoring Scheme &  towards the improvement of Lanscaping at 
St Andrews garden.

Total S106 Contributions (862,480) 0.00 (237,910) (1,100,390)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2021/22

P
age 72



6. TREASURY MANAGEMENT

6.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which sets out the principles and 
guidelines to be followed in borrowing and investment operations undertaken by Local 
Authorities.  On 23 February, Full Council approved the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2021-22, based on the Code.  The authority’s Annual Investment Strategy 
is incorporated in the TMSS and outlines the authority’s investment priorities as being:

 Security of Capital

 Liquidity

 Yield

6.2 An update on Treasury Management performance is provided to Members through 
budget monitoring reports, with more detailed reporting of treasury management activity 
to the Finance & Audit Committee every six months. A full list of internally managed 
investments held by the Council at 30 June 2021 can be found at Appendix Three of this 
report.

6.3 The Council currently pursues a variety of investment opportunities within its Treasury 
Management strategy which prior to Covid-19 were generating the following returns: 
a) Around £10m is invested in Externally Managed Property Funds generating returns 

in the region of 3-5% 
b) A further £10m is invested in three Multi-Asset funds generating returns of around 3-

4%.
c) Remaining cash balances are generally invested in short-term deposits and 

overnight money market funds currently generating returns of around 0.23%.
d) A total of £22.9m has been expended purchasing Investment Properties (including 

acquisitions and external professional support) from which initial yields have typically 
been upwards of 6%.

6.4 In 2020/21, despite the pandemic, Property Funds produced an income return of 4.15% 
overall and Money Market Funds produced an average dividend return of 3.40%. Return 
on internally managed investments for 2020/21 was 0.36% against a benchmark return 
of 0.11%.

6.5 Due to the current economic climate, investment returns have reduced but are being 
carefully monitored by Officers within Finance, who are in regular contract with the 
External Fund Managers.

6.6 The following summary of Key economic developments within this reporting period has 
been provided by Link Asset Services, the authority’s Treasury Management advisors.

6.7 The Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee voted unanimously to keep Bank Rate 
unchanged at 0.10%.  The Bank revised expectations for growth in Q2 of 2021 from 
4.25% to 5.5%.  The Bank of England expects a spike in inflation over the next six 
months but that this will be short lived. The Bank is also undertaking a review of its 
current policy to raise Bank Rate before unwinding quantative easing.  Money markets 
are currently expecting Bank Rate to start rising in mid-2022 but elsewhere there is an 

Page 73



18

expectation that only a minimal increase in Bank Rate is likely before 2023 or possibly 
no increases before 2024.

The background papers to this report are held within the Finance Section

Page 74



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 June 
against the original budget set for the 2021/22 financial year, and assess full year 
projections to 31 March 2022. It also illustrates how the projected position affects 
the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 75

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


20

Climate Change No direct impllications.

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 76



MTFP V2 - 06.08.2021 Appendix 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 12,266,490 12,201,170 11,940,870 12,049,470 12,290,490 12,536,300 12,787,040 13,042,830 13,303,680 13,569,760 13,913,400 

Vacancy allowance (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Salaries (Net) 11,916,490 11,851,170 11,590,870 11,699,470 11,940,490 12,186,300 12,437,040 12,692,830 12,953,680 13,219,760 13,563,400 

Temporary Staff 408,500 408,500 416,160 423,960 431,910 440,030 448,310 456,770 465,390 474,190 486,040 

Wages 160,130 160,130 104,410 246,490 108,620 110,790 113,000 255,250 117,550 119,910 122,910 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 3,184,500 3,165,730 3,140,670 3,165,870 3,229,190 3,293,850 3,359,730 3,426,860 3,495,420 3,565,300 3,655,620 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,058,460 1,058,010 1,058,300 1,059,180 1,060,080 1,061,000 1,061,930 1,062,890 1,063,860 1,063,860 1,063,860 

Running Expenses 15,027,670 15,290,150 10,767,790 10,888,700 10,895,300 10,987,020 11,113,110 11,311,340 11,490,280 11,625,940 11,713,060 

Capital Financing 870,550 766,440 1,727,480 (191,540) 1,787,120 1,933,200 2,373,230 2,340,800 2,309,050 2,309,050 2,309,050 

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (52,120) (52,120) 14,870 64,790 101,450 127,810 146,230 158,570 158,570 158,570 158,570 

Recharges to Other Accounts (3,295,930) (2,958,220) (2,982,100) (3,037,770) (3,109,250) (3,135,480) (3,190,260) (3,252,330) (3,210,660) (3,239,580) (3,251,600)

Other Government Grants (6,666,430) (6,704,340) (2,048,230) (2,061,440) (2,074,800) (2,088,280) (2,101,900) (2,115,650) (2,129,540) (2,143,580) (2,157,730)

Investment Income (772,000) (772,000) (802,000) (832,000) (862,000) (892,000) (922,000) (952,000) (982,000) (1,012,000) (1,042,000)

Fees & Charges (6,180,870) (6,355,110) (6,809,010) (6,857,720) (6,958,760) (6,922,010) (6,767,520) (6,800,640) (6,778,920) (6,846,910) (6,874,300)

Rental Income (4,529,350) (4,529,350) (4,623,140) (4,421,170) (4,572,750) (4,475,000) (4,723,330) (4,769,600) (4,815,000) (4,815,000) (4,858,340)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 1,724,980 1,724,980 807,000 692,000 757,000 642,000 600,000 757,000 212,000 132,000 132,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves (7,148,150) (7,304,360) (14,100) (63,440) 165,160 347,880 511,100 60,450 667,580 746,130 746,130 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 311,050 311,050 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 

Parish Precepts 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 6,420,640 6,463,820 13,102,130 11,528,540 13,651,920 14,370,270 15,211,830 15,385,700 15,770,420 16,110,800 16,519,830 

Business Rates Income (3,565,940) (3,565,940) (3,272,500) (3,305,230) (3,338,280) (3,371,660) (3,405,370) (3,439,430) (3,473,810) (3,508,550) (3,543,640)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

New Homes Bonus (311,050) (311,050) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Lower Tier Services Grant (126,260) (126,260) --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

Council Tax Income (7,333,580) (7,333,580) (7,525,110) (7,721,820) (7,923,410) (8,130,320) (8,342,620) (8,560,390) (8,784,060) (9,013,350) (9,248,720)

Parish Precepts (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund 5,221,080 5,221,080 184,870 184,870 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

98,270 98,270 (1,979,940) (176,910) (1,880,780) (2,358,840) (1,752,750) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

--   43,180 --   --   --   --   1,201,640 2,526,430 2,653,100 2,729,450 2,868,020 

--   --   --   --   --   --   1,201,640 1,324,790 126,670 76,350 138,570 

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £3.25m

Projected 

2028-29

Projected 

2027-28

Original 

2021-22

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2023-24

Projected 

2024-25

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Projected 

2021-22

Projected 

2029-30

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2026-27

Projected 

2030-31

P
age 77



MTFP V2 - 06.08.2021 Appendix 2

2021-22   

Original

2021-22   

Projected

2022-23    

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

2027-28      

Original

2028-29      

Original

2029-30      

Original

2030-31      

Original

9,283,080 9,283,080 9,649,220 8,019,280 8,192,370 6,661,590 4,652,750 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

New Homes Bonus 311,050 311,050 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF 98,270 98,270 (1,979,940) (176,910) (1,880,780) (2,358,840) (1,752,750) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 9,692,400 9,692,400 8,019,280 8,192,370 6,661,590 4,652,750 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget - (43,180) - - - - (1,201,640) (2,526,430) (2,653,100) (2,729,450) (2,868,020)

9,692,400 9,649,220 8,019,280 8,192,370 6,661,590 4,652,750 2,048,360 (478,070) (3,131,170) (5,860,620) (8,728,640)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Spend to Save Reserve (incl. Digital Team) - - - - - - - - - - -

Corporate Priorities Reserve 534,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840

Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,163,200 628,200 628,200 648,200 748,200 848,200 948,200 1,048,200 1,148,200 1,248,200 1,348,200

Planning Policy Reserve 464,490 432,890 437,290 461,690 511,690 561,690 611,690 661,690 711,690 761,690 811,690

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,657,410 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230

Decriminalisation (General) 228,460 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 123,480 135,980 124,480 112,980 101,480 113,980 126,480 138,980 151,480 163,980 176,480

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme Reserve - - - - - - - - - - -

Elections Reserve 73,750 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000 127,000

IT Infrastructure Reserve 370,950 270,950 275,950 300,950 270,950 280,950 355,950 285,950 295,950 345,950 395,950

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,223,060 1,444,410 1,265,760 1,087,110 908,460 861,000 858,000 706,840 928,190 1,149,540 1,370,890

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 5,075,100 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760

Growth Fund Reserve 374,910 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000

Service Review Reserve 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000

Playgrounds Reserve 135,530 44,410 58,160 46,910 20,660 19,410 20,160 33,910 62,660 131,410 200,160

Woodville Repairs Reserve 239,820 297,070 354,320 411,570 468,820 526,070 583,320 640,570 697,820 755,070 812,320

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 1,146,620 1,132,340 1,146,410 1,116,120 1,138,850 1,124,190 1,161,440 1,168,380 1,175,190 1,175,190 1,175,190

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

St George's Centre Income Protection Reserve 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920

Housing & Commercial Growth Fund Reserve 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000

Climate Change Reserve 484,860 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620

Enterprise Zone Reserve 151,340 172,850 319,430 466,030 612,610 759,110 905,460 1,051,630 1,197,550 1,348,830 1,500,110

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 15,412,500 19,285,680 17,741,640 17,851,290 16,485,670 14,824,710 12,731,420 10,265,440 8,279,920 6,296,600 4,174,710

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,001

KEY ITEMS INCLUDED WITHIN THIS VERSION OF THE PLAN

Council Tax increases of 2% projected annually from 2021/22 onwards.  Council Tax Base incorporates forecast growth of 0.60% annually from 2021/22 onwards.

No general pay award budgeted for 2021-22 (except rise of at least £250 for those earning under £24k) - in line with Spending Review announcements.

Negative RSG removed for 2021-22 as per Spending Review. NHB Scheme payments updated for 2021-22 and flatlined thereafter pending the outcome of long term funding reforms.

General Fund minimum working balance set at £2m, with General Reserve balance set at £3.25m.

Borrowing/interest costs associated with the Charter Development (through Rosherville Limited) - the Council will incur these costs in the first 3-4 years of the scheme, with repayment expected in 2023/24.

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year               

P
age 78



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Broker Name Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 145 11/11/20 10/11/21 Wokingham Borough Council Tradition Maturity 0.2500% -5,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 146 18/12/20 20/09/21 Moray Council Tradition Maturity 0.1700% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 148 23/04/21 22/10/21 Goldman Sachs International Link Group Maturity 0.2450% -3,100,000.00

Fixed Total 0.2270% -11,100,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 180 days notice 143 09/10/20 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.5800% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Call - 180 days notice 144 30/10/20 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.5800% -4,000,000.00

Call - 180 days notice Total 0.5800% -7,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 95 days notice 132 02/08/19 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.4000% -1,000,000.00

Call - 95 days notice Total 0.4000% -1,000,000.00

11 Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF L1 14/11/19 Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class 
L-1

Maturity 0.0100% -2,804,000.00

Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF L-1 18/05/20 Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class 
L-1

Maturity 0.0100% -619,000.00

Deposit MMF Deutsche RR MMF 11/06/18 Deutsche Managed Sterling Advisory Maturity 0.0000% -23,023.00

Deposit MMF 6000Invesco RR MMF 11/06/18 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.0099% -7,172,703.30

MMF Total 0.0099% -10,618,726.30

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -2,709,436.10

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 3.8346% -1,901,830.27

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -525,230.30

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 2.8362% -5,129,552.20

Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity 22.0547% -1,885,739.45

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity 3.9165% -5,103,092.78

Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 Jupiter Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -2,548,527.33

VNAV Fund Total 4.2122% -19,803,408.42

Deposit Total 1.8275% -49,522,134.72

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -49,522,134.72

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

As At: 30/06/2021

Page 1 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 03/08/21 14:08

P
age 79



Page 2 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 03/08/21 14:08

P
age 80



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 7 September / 21 September 2021

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report  – 
Quarter One 2021/22

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2021/22, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2021/22 financial year for 
the first quarter to 30 June 2021 as well as updating Members on other key areas of 
financial performance. 

1.2. The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good financial 
governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition to the 
reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, these 
actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity which impacts on either budgetary provision or 
results in a permanent change to the staffing establishment to be considered and 
approved by Management Team.

Page 81 Agenda Item 10



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HRA (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of Quarter One, income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, albeit 
there remains an anticipated contribution from reserves to fund projected revenue 
expenditure for the year. At this stage of the year there are limited variances to report.  
The main variances within the forecast position compared to the original budget is an 
increase in the savings resulting from staff vacancies.  This saving is largely offset by an 
increase in the use of the HRA general reserve to finance the rolled forward capital 
budgets.

2.2. The potential impact of Covid-19 was taken into account when setting the 2021/22 HRA 
budget.  Therefore at this stage there are no additional variances to expenditure or 
income to report.  However, officers will continue to closely monitor the impact and 
highlight variances in the future at the earliest opportunity.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £3.0m, the minimum level 
of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are projected to result in a net 
decrease in the General HRA Reserves of £698k, with the level of reserves being £2.8m 
at start of year and projected to be £2.1m at year-end.

2.4. The significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the lack of clarity 
regarding funding and regulatory reform and any impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic 
beyond those considered at the time of budget setting.

Housing Capital

2.5. The revised budget for the Housing Capital Programme for the year is £24.0m, with 
expenditure and commitments to the end of Quarter One of £7.5m. Capital budgets 
totalling £2.9m have been carried forward to 2021/22, relating to the maintenance of the 
Council’s housing stock, the New Build programme and the provision of Disabled Facilities 
Grants.  The Council was awarded a grant via the Better Care Fund for Disabled Facility 
Grants that was £187k higher than assumed at the time of setting the budget in February 
2021.

Page 82



3

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

3.1. Budget 2021/22

3.1.1. The table below sets out the current forecast spend against the original budget for the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances to 30 June 2021.  As at 
30 June 2021 the forecast reflects a net favourable variance to original budget of £64k. 
The reduction in funds required will reduce the contribution needed from general reserves.

Description Original Budget 
2021/22 (£)

Forecast   
2021/22 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 5,996,680 5,862,020 (134,660)
Repairs and Maintenance 7,812,020 7,812,020 0
Depreciation 6,948,300 6,948,300 0
Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 589,080 589,080 0
Capital Finance 7,794,080 7,896,580 102,500
Sub Total Expenditure 29,140,160 29,108,000 (32,160)
Rents of Dwellings (26,273,300) (26,273,300) 0
Other Rental Income (14,700) (14,700) 0
Service Charges (1,782,900) (1,782,900) 0
Non Dwelling Income (140,000) (172,000) (32,000)
Intensive Management Fund - Income (521,680) (521,680) 0
Other Income (110,620) (110,620) 0
Sub Total Income (28,843,200) (28,875,200) (32,000)
Contributions to/(from) reserves (296,960) (232,800) (64,160)
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 1: Housing Revenue Account 2021/22

3.2. SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT –  £135k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.2.1. Vacancy Management: £135k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2021/21 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It is anticipated that this 
will occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within day-
to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending the re-design of services. 
For the first three months to 30 June 2021, actual staffing spend was £135k lower than 
budgeted.

3.2.2. Capita Housing System: nil variance - the current housing system, Capita, is being 
supported beyond the previously stated date.  The contract extension costs to-date have 
been absorbed within the current budget.

3.3. REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE - NIL VARIANCE

3.3.1. Repairs & Maintenance – nil variance – A nil variance is reported at this stage of the 
financial year, however, we are working closely with the Housing Team to monitor this 
position going forward.

3.4. DEPRECIATION - NIL VARIANCE

3.4.1. Depreciation – nil variance – there is no variance to report at this stage.

3.5. CAPITAL FINANCING - £103K ADVERSE VARIANCE

Page 83



4

3.5.1. Interest Cost Savings – £116k – favourable variance – due to the delays in the new 
build programme, there was a lower external borrowing requirement in 2020/21.  This has 
reduced the anticipated cost of borrowing in the current financial year, resulting in a 
favourable variance of £116k against the original budget.

3.5.2. Contribution to Capital Programme - £219k – adverse variance – due to the impact of 
Covid-19 and subsequent delays to the capital programme during 2020/21 there was a 
reduction in the level of spend during the last financial year and, as a consequence, the 
draw from the HRA General Reserve to finance the capital spend was not required.  
However, this year there is now an increase in the required draw from HRA General 
Reserve to finance an element of the capital carried forward budgets.  This has resulted in 
an adverse variance of £219k. 

3.6. RENTS ON DWELLINGS - NIL VARIANCE

3.6.1. Rents on Dwellings – nil variance – whilst there remains a possible impact on the rental 
income due to the impact of Covid-19, this was taken into account when setting the 
budget for 2021/22 and therefore at this stage of the year no further variance is reported.

3.7. NON DWELLING INCOME - £32k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.7.1. Commercial Rent - £32k favourable variance – a favourable variance is forecast due to 
the increased rental income received for the hire of space for telecommunications masts 
on HRA land and buildings not known at the time of setting the budget.

3.8. OTHER INCOME – NIL VARIANCE

3.8.1. Other Income – nil variance – as with rental income from dwellings there remains a 
possible impact of COVID-19 on commercial income.  Again this was factored in when 
setting the budget for 2021/22 and therefore at this stage of the year no further variance is 
reported.

3.9. WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES
3.9.1. The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 

balances: 

£
Balance Brought Forward from 2020/21 3,000,000
Forecast Outturn position 2021/22 (232,800)
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2021) including minimum 
HRA Working Balance 2,767,200

Add: Transfer from HRA General Reserve (Revenue) 232,800

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 30 June 2021) 3,000,000

Table 2: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

3.9.2. The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist with 
future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year. 

Page 84



5

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2021   
(£)

Contributions 
(Income)      

(£)

Use of Reserve 
(Expenditure) 

(£)

Balance 
31/03/2022   

(£)

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (2,763,470) 0 698,260 (2,065,210)

Total (2,763,470) 0 698,260 (2,065,210)

Table 3: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

4. HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1. The Housing Capital programme for 2021/22 is £23,978,630, of which £21,889,230 
relates to HRA capital schemes and £2,089,400 relates to non-HRA capital schemes.  
These budgets include £1,869,940 and £1,069,800, respectively that are carried forward 
from 2020/21.

4.2. The HRA capital schemes continue to focus on maintaining the minimum decent homes 
standard for the Council’s stock in 2021/22, with £7,666,620 earmarked for this purpose 
within the Replacement, Improvement, Health & Safety Works and Major Void Works 
Programmes.  A further £250,000 has been set aside to deal with the refurbishment of 
major void properties.  An additional £1,390,010 capital budgets has been agreed to 
provide the replacement Housing Computer System, Fire Doors and Replacement Play 
Equipment.  The council also continues its commitment to build new homes with 
£12,582,600 allocated for this purpose.

4.3. Good progress has been made during Quarter One with £7,464,260 being spent or 
committed against the capital schemes detailed above.  Officers will continue to monitor 
the impact of Covid-19 on the delivery of the capital programme.

Ref No: Project
 Original Budget 

2021-22 inc CFwd 
(£)

Expenditure 
Including 

Commitments 
(£)

Balance 
Outstanding 

(£)

A Replacement Programmes 3,910,190 1,753,530 (2,156,660)
B Improvement Programmes 1,771,480 489,770 (1,281,710)
C Health & Safety Works 1,984,950 1,191,960 (792,990)
D Major Void Works 250,000 90,040 (159,960)
E New Build & Acquisions 12,582,600 2,943,980 (9,638,620)
F Housing Computer Systems 345,080 347,050 1,970
G Replacement Play Equipment 127,500 0 (127,500)
H Bin Housing 49,470 0 (49,470)
I CCTV 56,960 0 (56,960)
J Fire Doors 811,000 0 (811,000)

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 21,889,230 6,816,330 (15,072,900)
K Renovation Grants (DFG) 2,089,400 647,930 (1,441,470)

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 23,978,630 7,464,260 (16,514,370)

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 4: Housing Capital Programme 2021/22

4.4. The following works were undertaken or completed by the end of Quarter One 2021/22:

4.4.1. Replacement Programmes (Ref A)

 Kitchens renewals: 28 completed
 Bathroom renewals: 12 completed

Page 85



6

 Windows and door renewals: 9 properties completed
 Roofing; 1 Block has had a roof renewal
 Electrical tests: 94 properties completed
 Electrical tests: 12 Blocks completed

4.4.2. Improvement Programmes (Ref B)

 Central heating systems/boilers installations:  180 completed
 Wet room installations: 25 completed
 Domestic stair lifts installations: 2 completed

4.4.3. Health & Safety Works (Ref C)

 Fire detection installs in general let properties: 104 completed
 Fire detection installs in sheltered properties: 152 completed
 Upgrades to door entry systems: 9 blocks
 Lift refurbishment: works commenced at Carl Ekman House

4.5. New Build (Ref E)

4.5.1. In 2012 the authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain an element of the 
Right To Buy (RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition 
of additional social housing.

4.5.2. From 1 April 2021, MHCLG has amended the rules around the use of RTB receipts, 
allowing Local Authorities to fund 40% of costs incurred in the delivery of additional 
housing units from the use of RTB receipts, which is an increase from the previous limit of 
30%.  This means that Local Authorities are now only required to fund the remaining 60% 
of costs.  MHCLG has also increased the requirement to spend RTB receipts from three to 
four years after they are generated.

4.5.3. The table below shows a summary of the new build properties that have been delivered 
since the original agreement was signed in 2012, as well as the number of additional 
properties, which are at various different stages of delivery within the current programme.

HRA Property Development Stage Number of 
Properties

Delivered and Completed 49
Under Construction 78
Planning Permission Granted 6
Feasibility/Concept Design 334
Total Number of HRA Properties 467

Table 5: New Build Delivery

4.5.4. The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter One:

 Whitehill and Nansen Road – 8 x 3 bed houses were completed at Nansen Road on 
17 March 2021 with 24 x 1 and 2 bed apartments due to complete at Whitehill Road on 
19 July 2021.  The introduction of a Local Lettings Plan prioritising existing GBC tenants 
will increase availability of homes for many more applicants on the Council’s housing 
register.

 St Patrick’s Gardens – work is continuing at pace on 23 x 1 and 2 bed apartments fronting 
Valley Drive.  Completion of the scheme, which includes improvements to existing 
parking, waste collection, landscaping and a new play area, is expected in November.

Page 86



7

 Valley Drive – work is also continuing at pace on Blocks A and B of this scheme.  Block B 
will provide 32 x 1 bed Wheelchair Accessible and Adaptable apartments for people over 
the age of 55 whilst Block A will provide 6x1b/2p; 4x2b/3p; 5x2b4p apartments and 
1x3b5p Wheelchair User apartment.   Block A is due to complete Spring 2022 with 
completion of Block B following on in the Summer of 2022. 

 Constable Road – a contractor has been appointed via the SEC to deliver a terrace of 6 x 
1 bed bungalows and 1 x 1 bed detached bungalow.  The contractor will commence on 
site w/c 21 July 2021 and will be keeping residents fully informed.  The terrace of 6 
bungalows are wheelchair accessible and adaptable on the ground floor with a flexible 
room in the roof space, to enable a carer or family member to stay over.  The homes are 
designed to encourage existing tenants who are under occupying to re-size to a home 
that better meets their needs, which in turn will free up larger family sized homes for 
waiting applicants.  The single bungalow will be a Wheelchair User dwelling.

 Armoury Drive - Planning permission for 4 x 2 bed apartments and 2 x 1 bed bungalows 
on the former St John’s Ambulance site in Armoury Drive was granted in December 2020.  
The scheme has been tendered via the Kent Business Portal and tenders will be 
evaluated by end July.  The two bungalows have been designed to be wheelchair 
accessible and adaptable on the ground floor with the flexible roof space as provided on 
the Constable Road scheme.

 St Columba’s Close – feasibility studies have been undertaken with the aim to deliver 
circa 50 new carbon neutral homes.  

 In 2020/21 the Council purchased 147 Wrotham Road.  The property, once renovated will 
provided interim housing to assist vulnerable residents within the borough.

4.5.5. Our partners continue to work hard to maintain business continuity and keep the council 
informed of any changes and advice from Government that could impact business plans. 
Following government guidance, increased labour on site has meant that work has 
progressed significantly despite the many challenges.  Our partners are providing regular 
updates and we have commenced attending site for project meetings. 

4.5.6. Despite the continuing impact from Covid-19, the council remains committed to increase 
the housing supply in the borough and continues to work with its stakeholders in the 
identification, design, and construction of good quality affordable homes.

4.5.7. To date, the total number of new Council homes completed, under construction or with 
planning permission is 133.  The Housing Development Team continue to work on a 
pipeline of potential development sites to increase the supply of social housing.  

4.5.8. The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred in 
2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2021, the RTB Allowable Debt reserve 
had a nil balance.  This was due to the proposal to use any balance from the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects, ahead of any other funding 
source, as this can either be used to repay debt or finance the capital programme. 

4.5.9. Table 6 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver the 
New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be delivered to 
avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

Page 87



8

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £
2012-17 c/f 6,905,580 16,113,020 23,018,600 23,018,620 31-Mar-22
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-22
Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-22
Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-22
Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-23
2018-19
Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-23
Q2 484,630 1,130,800 1,615,430 32,986,460 30-Sep-23
Q3 379,770 886,130 1,265,900 34,252,360 31-Dec-23
Q4 238,610 556,760 795,370 35,047,730 31-Mar-24
2019-20
Q1 383,470 894,760 1,278,230 36,325,960 30-Jun-24
Q2 1,382,090 3,224,880 4,606,970 40,932,930 30-Sep-24
Q3 544,030 1,269,400 1,813,430 42,746,360 31-Dec-24
Q4 559,730 1,306,040 1,865,770 44,612,130 31-Mar-25
2020-21
Q1 474,550 1,107,280 1,581,830 46,193,960 30-Jun-25
Q2 39,580 92,350 131,930 46,325,890 30-Sep-25
Q3 400,460 934,410 1,334,870 47,660,760 31-Dec-25
Q4 560,850 1,308,650 1,869,500 49,530,260 31-Mar-26

14,859,070 34,671,190 49,530,260

Table 6: New Build

4.7. Housing Computer System (Ref F)
4.7.1. Delivery and implementation of the Housing Computer System is being directly impacted 

by issues the supplier is having with their internal resourcing levels to deliver the required 
solution.  This had been escalated with supplier’s senior management and is subject to 
ongoing discussion.

4.7.2. User Acceptance Testing did take place during June and July but was rejected by the 
Council as it did not pass the Council’s acceptance criteria.  The Suppliers are resolving 
issues for a further round of User Acceptance Testing to take place.

4.7.3. The expected cost is currently within agreed budget tolerances and the Council will be 
seeking to pass any additional costs incurred onto the supplier.

4.8. Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

4.8.1. A 20-year replacement plan has been agreed and included within the Housing Asset 
Business Plan.  However, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, there has been a delay with the 
commencement of the works.  The improvements that were originally due to take place in 
2020/21 will now commence in 2021/22 following a review with the new Housing 
Management Team.

4.9. Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref K) 

4.9.1. The grant funding awarded to the Council in 2021/22, via the Better Care Fund, was 
£1.020m which was higher than the £833k that was forecasted when the budget was set 

Page 88



9

in February 2021.  The total funding available for use in 2021/22 is now £2.089m, which is 
inclusive of the £1.070m that was carry forward from 2020/21.

4.9.2. The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible 
for assistance within the wider remit of the Better Care Fund.

4.9.3. Challenges in relation to Covid-19 were overcome and considerable progress continued 
to be made in Quarter One of 2021/22, including dealing with the backlog of referrals and 
the completion of adaptations that were approved prior to lockdown.

4.9.4. A total of 102 cases have been processed, of which the breakdown is as follows:

 30 grant cases were approved

 15 households had works completed

 1 applications were cancelled due to changes in the client’s circumstances

 56 grant cases are awaiting approval
4.9.5. In Quarter One, the Council distributed £222k to private homeowners within the borough 

who qualify for Disabled Facility Grant assistance.  The Council has also committed a 
further £532k, which is considerably higher than any previous quarter.

4.9.6. Some 34 people have benefited from the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy, 21 
people have been assisted through hospital discharge into a safer home environment and 
a further 13 people have been assisted with energy measures.  Data from June hospital 
discharges is still awaited.

4.9.7. Work around hoarding cases continued, providing support and putting measures in place 
for patients waiting to be discharged to home.  The post of the coordinator is out for 
recruiting as the previous member of staff left.

4.9.8. The Council is receiving more complex cases where the health of our clients requires 
additional adaptations above and beyond the funding that is allowable under the 
Mandatory DFG.  The Council is looking to review its DFG policy to enable these cases to 
be processed.

4.10. Capital Resources
4.10.1. The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.  The use 

of funding takes into account schemes, which are expected to roll balances forward, as 
indicated in this report.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2021(£)

Forecast 
Income 

2021/22 (£)

Forecast Use of 
Funding 2021/22 

(£)

Forecast Final 
Balance 

31/03/2022 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (1,010,350) (259,490) 779,010 (490,830)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (135,380) 0 0 (135,380)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (85,380) (6,728,410) 6,813,790 0
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (69,700) 0 69,700 0
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (6,349,860) (3,078,660) 2,704,060 (6,724,460)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve 0 (714,840) 714,840 0
Disabled Facility Grants (1,203,630) (1,019,600) 2,089,400 (133,830)
Christianfields Overage 0 0 0 0
Meopham Police Station (s106) (24,500) 0 0 (24,500)
General Reserve (revenue) (2,763,470) 0 698,260 (2,065,210)
Total (15,215,270) (11,801,000) 13,869,060 (13,147,210)

Table 7: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2021/22

Page 89



10

4.10.2. Projected Capital Expenditure and funding requirements for the HRA can be found in the 
HRA Business Plan at Appendix two to this report.

4.11. HRA Business Planning

4.11.1. The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into account 
longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants and energy 
prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget resulting from 
Management Team and Cabinet decisions.

4.11.2. The HRA Business Plan reflects the current and future financial spend profiles identified in 
the recent Stock Condition Survey.  It also reflects future forecasts of the New Build 
Programme beyond the existing three year scheme based on the current assumption on 
the number of Council Houses sold per annum.

4.11.3. The latest version of the HRA Business Plans for capital and revenue are attached to this 
report at Appendices two and three.

4.11.4. The current version of the HRA Business Plan reflects the changes to the use of HRA 1-4-
4 Right to Buy receipts which were recently announced by MHCLG and came into effect 
on 1 April 2021 (para 4.5.2).  It also reflects the assumption that the number of properties 
sold under the Right to Buy scheme will continue to be affected by Covid-19 and that the 
Council will see a reduction of 20 properties a year as a result, a reduction from the 
previous assumption that 30 properties will be sold per annum.

4.11.5. Officers will continue to work on the Business Plan in the coming weeks and months to 
review and assess the impact of other base assumptions within the model.

Page 90



11

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 June 
against the original budget set for the 2021/22 financial year, and illustrate how this 
affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 91

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


12

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 92



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Original Budget 

inc C/Fwd Q1

HRA Capital Budget Monitoring 2021.22 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Capital Expendture

Capital Maintenance Expenditure

Planned Maintenance 0 0 3,677 3,948 4,054 4,139 4,226 4,315 4,407

Replacement Programmes

Kitchen 988 988 904 923 944 964 986 1,007 1,030

Bathroom 225 225 331 338 346 353 361 369 377

Doors & Windows 950 950 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Roofing Replacements 1,039 1,039 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Electrical Testing 709 709 519 530 542 554 566 578 591

Improvement Programmes

Heating Installations 1,050 1,050 1,089 1,113 1,138 1,163 1,188 1,214 1,241

Aids and Adaptations 522 522 519 530 542 554 566 578 591

Other Improvement Programme Schemes 200 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Health & Safety Works

Fire Precaution Works 1,023 1,023 311 318 325 332 340 347 355

Door Entry/Warden 125 125 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Asbestos Management 60 60 73 74 76 78 79 81 83

Communal 0 0 670 685 700 715 731 747 764

Other Health & Safety Works 777 777 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Major Voids 250 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Savings Required 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 7,917 7,917 8,092 8,460 8,665 8,852 9,042 9,238 9,438

Other Capital Expenditure

Housing Computer System 345 345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Play Equipment 128 128 24 24 0 0 0 0 0

Bin Housing 49 49 13 0 0 0 0 0 0

CCTV 57 57 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fire Doors 811 811 175 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 1,390 1,390 214 24 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure

Purchases from the Market 0 800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Whitehill Road 0 577 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Valley Drive 0 4,429 2,404 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Patricks Gardens 0 2,085 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Wilberforce Way 0 295 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rembrandt/Constable Drive 0 1,714 227 0 0 0 0 0 0

Armoury Drive 0 988 250 0 0 0 0 0 0

Barr Road 0 0 348 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build 12,583 1,695 5,833 9,761 10,262 10,827 11,443 12,084 12,750

New Build Expenditure Total 12,583 12,583 9,064 9,761 10,262 10,827 11,443 12,084 12,750

New Build Historic Adjustment

Total Capital Expenditure 21,889 21,889 17,370 18,244 18,928 19,678 20,486 21,322 22,188

Financing

MRR (7,812) (7,812) (7,332) (7,509) (7,691) (7,877) (8,068) (8,264) (8,700)

RTB - Allowable Debt (715) (715) (715) (715) (704) (652) (672) (692) (713)

RTB - LA Share 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - Transaction Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB Buyback Allowance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital receipts (779) (779) (259) (259) (259) (259) (259) (259) (851)

Gen Cap Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gen Cap Reserve 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA General Reserve/RCCO (715) (715) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA Reserve 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - 141 Receipts (2,704) (3,704) (2,904) (3,904) (4,105) (4,331) (4,577) (4,834) (5,100)

Capital Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

S106 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Returned to Capital Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Borrowing (9,164) (8,163) (6,159) (5,856) (6,168) (6,559) (6,909) (7,273) (6,824)

Total Financing (21,889) (21,889) (17,370) (18,244) (18,928) (19,678) (20,486) (21,322) (22,188)

Net Over/Under Financing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Original 

Budget Q1

HRA Budget Monitoring 2021.22 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Expenditure

Supervision and Management 5,997 5,862 6,614 6,749 6,871 6,994 7,120 7,248 7,379

Repairs and Maintenance 7,812 7,812 7,164 7,311 7,442 7,576 7,712 7,851 7,993

Depreciation 6,948 6,948 7,163 7,412 7,653 7,902 8,160 8,426 8,700

Intensive Housing Management - Expenditure 589 589 600 612 623 634 646 657 669

Capital Finance 7,544 7,181 8,899 9,102 9,796 10,096 10,440 10,782 11,128

RCCO 250 715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Savings Required 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 29,140 29,108 30,439 31,186 32,385 33,203 34,078 34,965 35,868

Income

Rents of Dwellings (26,273) (26,273) (27,490) (28,575) (29,664) (30,494) (31,345) (32,219) (33,114)

Other Rental Income (Phone masts etc) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15)

Service Charges (1,783) (1,783) (1,833) (1,890) (1,944) (1,999) (2,056) (2,114) (2,174)

Non Dwelling Income (Garages & Commercial) (140) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172)

Intensive Housing Management  - Income (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522)

Other Income (Interest, Ins Reimburse & CCentre) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111)

Total Income (28,843) (28,875) (30,142) (31,284) (32,427) (33,312) (34,220) (35,152) (36,107)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (297) (233) (296) 98 42 109 142 187 239

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balances and Reserves

HRA Working Balances

B/fwd Balance 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

Variances per budget report (297) (233) (296) 98 42 109 142 187 239

Forecast Working Balances C/fwd 2,703 2,767 2,704 3,098 3,042 3,109 3,142 3,187 3,239

Movement (to)/from HRA General Reserve 297 233 296 (98) (42) (109) (142) (187) (239)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

HRA General Reserve

Opening Balance 2,763 2,763 2,065 1,769 1,867 1,909 2,018 2,160 2,347

Use to support revenue position (297) (233) (296) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Use in capital financing (497) (465) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Surplus on HRA revenue account 0 0 0 98 42 109 142 187 239

Forecast HRA General Reserve Balances C/fwd 1,970 2,065 1,769 1,867 1,909 2,018 2,160 2,347 2,586

Funding Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting.
	5 Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 2020/21
	Appendix II LGO Annual Review Letter
	Appendix III Contacts and Outcomes

	6 Audit & Counter Fraud Update
	Appendix 2 - A&CF Update 01 April 2021 to 31 Jul 2021

	7 National Fraud Initiative Update
	9 General Fund Budget Monitoring Q1
	Appendix 2 - MTFP - V2 - 2021-22 - BMR Q1
	Appendix 3 - Investments as at 30 June 2021

	10 Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Q1
	Appendix 2 HRA Business Plan - Capital Q1
	Appendix 3 HRA Business Plan - Revenue Q1


